
 

 

 

Boston Borough Council 
Chief Executive 
PHIL DRURY 

MCIAT, ACIOB 

Municipal Buildings 
Boston 
Lincolnshire 
PE21 8QR 
Tel: Tel 01205 314226 
Fax: 
 

 
My ref: LH/KR/Planning 
 

Please ask for: Karen Rist, Democratic Services Officer (Direct number Tel 01205 314226) 
 
Monday 20 May 2019 
 

 

NOTICE OF MEETING OF THE PLANNING COMMITTEE 
 
Dear Councillor  
 

You are invited to attend a meeting of the Planning Committee 
 

on Tuesday, 28 May 2019 at 10.00 am 
 

in the Committee Room, Municipal Buildings, West Street, Boston, PE21 8QR 

 
PHIL DRURY  
Chief Executive 
 
Committee:   To be appointed at the Council’s Annual General Meeting on the 20 May 2019. 
 
Members are reminded that in order to be eligible to sit on the planning committee, they must 
undertake the training which is scheduled for 1000 hours on Friday 24th May 2019. 
 

 

 
Note(s) for Members of the Committee:  

In order to vote on a planning application committee Members must be present for the entire 
presentation and discussion on the item. 
 
When an official site visit is undertaken which forms part of the decision making at Committee, 
only Members who have attended the site visit and received full representation will be able to 
debate and decide the application. 
 
 

 

Members of the public are welcome to attend the committee meeting as observers 

except during the consideration of exempt or confidential items. 

 

This meeting may be subject to being recorded. 
 

 

Public Document Pack



 

 

 

AA  GG  EE  NN  DD  AA  
 

PART I - PRELIMINARIES 

 
 

A   APOLOGIES 
 

To receive apologies for absence and notification of substitutes (if any). 

 

 

B   MINUTES 
 

To sign and confirm the minutes of the last meeting. 

 
 

1 - 4 

C   DECLARATION OF INTERESTS 
 

To receive declarations of interests in respect of any item on the agenda. 

 
 

 

D   PUBLIC QUESTIONS 
 
To answer any written questions received from members of the public no 
later than 5 p.m. two clear working days prior to the meeting – for this 
meeting the deadline is 5 p.m. on Wednesday 22 May 2019 

 

 

 

PART II - AGENDA ITEMS 
 
 

 

1   PLANNING APPLICATION B 19 0089 
 

Approval of reserved matters (appearance, landscaping, layout and scale) 
following outline approval B 17 0359 for residential development up to 5 
dwellings. 

 

5 - 28 

2   APPEAL DECISION REPORT 
 

A report by the Growth Manager in respect of: 
 

B 18 0293  7 Willington Road  Kirton  Boston  

 

29 - 38 

3   PERMITTED DEVELOPMENT - UPDATE REPORT. 
 

A report by the Growth Manager 

 
 

39 - 44 



 

 

 
 

4   5 YEAR HOUSING LAND SUPPLY 
 

A report by the Growth Manager 

 

45 - 72 

5   DELEGATED DECISION LIST 
 

A report by the Growth Manager 

 

73 - 84 

6   PLANNING COMMITTEE REPORT YEAR 2018 - 2019. 
 

An End of Term report on the previous 12 months activity of Boston Borough 
Council’s Planning Committee.  

 

85 - 108 

 
 

 

Note: A planning decision comes into effect only when the decision notice 
and associated documents are despatched by the Local Planning Authority 
and not when the Committee makes its decision. 

 
 
Notes:  
 
The Human Rights Act 1998 
It is implicit in these reports that the recommendations to and the consideration by Committee will 
take into account the Council’s obligations arising out of the Human Rights Act and the rights 
conferred by Articles 6,8,14 and Article 1 of the First Protocol of the European Convention on 
Human Rights (ECHR).  These are the rights to a fair hearing, respect for family and private life, 
the prohibition against discrimination and the peaceful enjoyment of possessions, respectively.  
The ECHR allows many to be overridden if there is a sufficiently compelling public interest. 
 

In simple terms the Act requires a person’s interest be balanced against the interests of the 
community.  This is something that is part of the planning system and that balancing is a significant 
part of the consideration of issues identified to Committee by officer reports.  Provided that those 
issues are taken into account, the Convention will be satisfied. 
 
The person to contact about the agenda and documents for this meeting is Karen Rist, Democratic 
Services Officer, Municipal Buildings, Boston, Lincolnshire, PE21 8QR, Tel 01205 314226, e-mail: 
karen.rist@boston.gov.uk. 
 

Council Members who are not able to attend the meeting should notify Karen Rist, Democratic 
Services Officer as soon as possible giving the name of the Council Member (if any) who will be 
attending the meeting as their substitute. 
 
Alternative Versions  
Should you wish to have the agenda or report in an alternative format such as larger text, Braille or 
a specific language, please contact Democratic Services on direct dial (01205) 314226 
 

 

Emergency Procedures 
In the event of a fire alarm sounding all attendees are asked to leave the building via the nearest emergency 
exit and make their way to the Fire Assembly Point located in the car park at the rear of the Municipal 
Buildings. 

 



 

 

 
 
 



PLANNING COMMITTEE 
 

9 APRIL 2019 

Present: 
 

 

Chairman: Councillor Sue Ransome 

Vice-Chairman: 
 

Councillor Claire Rylott 

Councillors: Peter Bedford, Michael Cooper, James Edwards, 
Jonathan Noble, Brian Rush, Paul Skinner and 
Yvonne Stevens 
 

Officers: Growth Manager, Legal Officer Planning and Democratic 
Services Officer 
 
 

89   APPOINTMENT OF CHAIRMAN 
 

Councillor Sue Ransome was appointed Chairman of the committee, Councillor Claire 
Rylott was appointed Vice Chairman of the committee.                                      
 
90   APOLOGIES 

 
Apologies for absence were received from Councillor Alison Austin with Councillor 
Richard Austin substituting.   Apologies were also tabled by Councillors David Brown 
and Elizabeth Ransome with no substitute members. 
 
 
91   MINUTES 

 
With the agreement of the committee the Chairman signed the minutes of the previous 
meeting held on the 12 March 2019 
 
 
92   DECLARATION OF INTERESTS 

 
Standing declarations of interests were tabled for: 
Councillors Tom Ashton and Paul Skinner in their roles as a member of Lincolnshire 
County Council. 
Councillors Michael Cooper, Claire Rylott and Sue Ransome in their roles as members 
of the South East Lincolnshire Local Plan. 
Councillors Peter Bedford and Michael Cooper in their roles as representatives to the 
Internal Drainage Boards. 
 
No individual declarations of interest were tabled. 
 
 
93   PUBLIC QUESTIONS 

 
No public questions were tabled. 
 
 
 

Page 1

Agenda Item B



Planning Committee 
9 April 2019 
 

 
 
94   PLANNING APPLICATION B 18 0355 

 
Change of Use from dwellinghouse (Class C3) to hotel and sandwich shop (Sui 
Generis) and the construction of a two storey rear extension 
 

The White House, Marsh Lane, Boston, PE21 7SJ 
 

Mr J Hobbs 
 
 
The Growth Manager presented the report and referenced certain content of the written 
submission made by the Councillor Alison Austin, the committee member who had called 
the application in: 
 
Committee were advised that it could not put a condition on any area outside of the 
application site; nor could it control legislation under another department’s control and, that 
whilst there had been enhancements to the site already, they had all been under permitted 
development rights.  
   
The Growth Manager further confirmed that the building was not listed; that had there been 
any cause for concern in respect of flood issues the Environment Agency would have 
addressed them in their response, and finally, that whilst an advisory could be added to any 
decision, it was just that – advice, and it was not enforceable on either the current applicant 
or any future developer of the site. 
 
 
Representation was received by the applicant Mr Hobbs which included: 
 
After advising committee of his experience of development over a number of years in 
Peterborough, Mr Hobbs stressed he felt Boston had great potential for development and in 
particular, for such an establishment as he was proposing.  Referencing the application site, 
he stated that the industrial area had actually grown up around the house, resulting in it no 
longer being suitable for a domestic home.  The industry, noise and the volume of traffic 
which now surrounded the house made it highly unsafe for a family to live in.   Mr Hobbs 
advised that his target customers would be primarily construction site workers working within 
the immediate industrial estate, and also at up and coming sites across the borough.   He 
stressed that having carried out investigations, he had evidence of the need for such an 
establishment, having been made aware that a number of contractors had no option but to 
travel on a daily basis, due to the lack of affordable accommodation.  
 
Members were asked to recognise that the sandwich shop facility would provide the whole 
industrial site with a food outlet, whilst at the same time, alleviating the congestion and 
parking problems at the nearest food outlet on the corner of London road at a very busy 
junction with the A16.  
 
Concluding Mr Hobbs confirmed he would be providing all year round employment with 
receptionists; cleaners and food operatives and that by developing the property he would be 
providing affordable accommodation and food. 
 

 
 

Page 2



Planning Committee 
9 April 2019 

 

It was moved by Councillor Brian Rush and seconded by Councillor Yvonne Stevens 
that the application be granted in line with officer recommendation, subject to the 
conditions and reasons therein. 
 

Vote:     Unanimous in favour of granting.   
 
RESOLVED:    That the application be granted in line with officer recommendation, 
subject to the conditions and reasons therein: 
 
1 The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of three 

years from the date of this permission.   
 

Reason: Required to be imposed pursuant to Section 51 of the Planning and 
Complsory Purchase Act 2004. 

 
2 The development hereby permitted shall be carried out and retained in accordance 

with the following plans: 
 

 Ref: 2934/01 - Location plan scale 1/1250   
 Ref: 2934/06 Rev. C -  Proposed Block Plan 
 Ref: 2934/07 Rev. B Elevations 
 Ref: 2934/08 Rev. C Ground Floor Layout 
 Ref: 2934/09 Rev. C First Floor Layout 
 Ref: 2934/10 Rev. B Proposed Visuals 
 

Reason:  To ensure the development is undertaken in accordance with the approved 
details and to accord with Policy 2 of the South East Lincolnshire Local Plan 2011-
2036. 
 

3 The hotel hereby approved shall not be brought into operation until a scheme for 
protecting occupiers of the hotel from noise has been submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority.  The scheme shall include a noise 
assessment carried out by a suitably qualified acoustic consultant to assess the local 
noise environment and thereafter recommend appropriate glazing and ventilation 
requirements.  All works, which form part of that scheme, shall be completed before 
any of the rooms are first occupied and retained thereafter. 

  

Reason:  To protect the occupants of the proposed hotel from noise in accordance 
with Policies 3 and 30 of the South East Lincolnshire Local Plan 2011-2036. 

 
In determining this application the authority has taken account of the guidance in paragraph 
38 of the National Planning Policy Framework 2019 in order to seek to secure sustainable 
development that improves the economic, social and environmental conditions of the 
Borough. 

 
95   DELEGATED DECISION LIST 

 

Members noted the report. 
 
96   APPEALS DECISION REPORT 

 

Members noted the report. 

 
The Meeting ended at 10.35 am 

 

Page 3



This page is intentionally left blank



PLANNING APPLICATION B/19/0089

Approval of reserved matters
(appearance, landscaping, layout and scale)

following outline approval B/17/0359,
for residential development up to 5 dwellings

Land between Jesmond and Fenbank, Land
North of Spalding Road,

Sutterton, Boston, PE20 2ET

Applicant:

Mr A McCloughlin

Page 5

Agenda Item 1



P
age 6



 

 

BOSTON BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

 

Planning Committee - 28 May 2019 
 

 

Reference No: B/19/0089  
 
Expiry Date:  07-May-2019 
Extension of Time: 31st May 2019 
 
Application Type: Approval of Reserved Matters 
Proposal:  Approval of reserved matters (appearance, landscaping, layout and 
scale) following outline approval B/17/0359, for residential development (up to 5 dwellings)
  
Site:   Land between Jesmond and Fenbank, Land North of Spalding Road,  
                                  Sutterton, Boston, PE20 2ET 
 

Applicant:  Mr A McCloughlin 
Agent:   Mr Adrian Fox, AF Architecture 
 
Ward:            Five Village Parish:  Sutterton Parish Council 

 

Case Officer:   Trevor Thompson Third Party Reps:  Ten 
 
Link to Application:    B/19/0089 
 
Recommendation: GRANT 
 

 
 

Page 7

https://www.mybostonuk.com/planning-application-search/


 

 

 
1.0 Reason for Report 
 
1.1 This application has been presented to the Planning Committee because of the 

site’s planning history and because letters of objection have been received from 
neighbouring residents.  

 
2.0 Application and site description 
 
2.1 The application site covers approximately 0.4 hectares. The main part of the site 

forms part of a much larger field located to the rear of modern bungalows fronting 
Spalding Road, Sutterton. Part of the site includes a narrow agricultural track that 
leads to the main part of the application site to the rear. This track is located between 
two bungalows (Fenbank and Jesmond) and gains access onto Spalding Road. 
There are residential uses adjoining the site and there are commercial uses to the 
west and south–east. The site is at the edge of the settlement and within a semi -
rural location. To the west lies agricultural land and commercial buildings. 
 

2.2 This application is for the approval of reserved matters for the erection of five 
detached dwellings and associated garages including appearance, landscaping, 
layout and scale following the grant of outline planning permission, at appeal for 
residential development for up to 5 dwellings (ref B/17/0359). The appeal 
application included access to the site and therefore access is not a reserved 
matter. It is intended to upgrade the existing agricultural track to serve this 
development. 
 

2.3 The details of the outline application and this current application are discussed in 
section 6 below. 

 
3.0 Relevant History 
 
3.1 At the meeting held on the 16th May 2017 an outline application including access 

with all other matters (appearance, landscaping, layout and scale) reserved for later 
approval for the erection of 5 residential dwellings and associated works on this site 
was refused for the following reasons: 

 
1. The proposed development fails to take the opportunities available for improving 

the character and quality of the area. It would be out of character with the pattern 
of the surrounding development and result in material harm contrary to saved Local 
Plan policies G1, G6 and H3. 

 
2. In view of the poor existing boundary treatment and external space in which to 

provide an adequate landscaped buffer area with the surrounding bungalows, this 
proposal would undermine the amenities of existing adjacent residential occupiers 
particularly as a result of the position of their existing habitable rooms, a 
conservatory and private amenity space which face along the access road. The 
increase in passing vehicles movements would erode the residential amenities of 
these adjacent occupiers by reason of activity and general disturbance. The 
proposal would be contrary to saved Local Plan Policies G1, G6 and the aims and 
objectives of the National Planning Policy Framework. 

 
3.2 The applicant appealed against this decision and the appeal was allowed, i.e. 

planning permission was granted. (ref B/17/0061).  
 

Page 8



 

 

 
 
3.3 At the meeting held in November 2017, a further outline application for residential 

development (up to 5 dwellings) including access with all other matters reserved for 
later approval on this site was refused for the following reason: 

 
1 The proposal would be out of character with the pattern of the surrounding 

development and result in material harm contrary to saved Local Plan policies G1, 

G6 and H3. 

 

3.4 The applicant appealed against this decision and the appeal was allowed. A copy 
of the Planning Inspector’s decision letter which relates to both appeals, along with 
the conditions that form part of this permission is attached to this report as Appendix 
1. (ref B/17/0359). This current application for the approval of reserved matters has 
been submitted following this outline approval. 
 
 

4.0 Relevant Policy 
 
4.1 Since the approval of the outline application ref B/17/0359 identified above, there 

have been changes to planning policy at both national and local level.  The 
Development Plan now consists of the South East Lincolnshire Local Plan (2011-
2036) (i.e. SELLP) which was adopted by the Boston Borough Council and the 
South Holland District Council on the 8th March 2019. As a result of the adoption of 
the South East Lincolnshire Local Plan, all saved policies within the Boston 
Borough Local Plan have now been deleted. The Boston Borough Local Plan 
therefore no longer forms part of the development plan. In addition, the National 
Planning Policy Framework (2012) was updated in 2018 and has been updated 
again by the National Planning Policy Framework (2019) version. 

 
 South East Lincolnshire Local Plan (2011-2036) 
 
4.2 At the time outline application B/17/0356 was determined, the majority of the site 

was located outside the settlement boundary of Sutterton as defined within the 
former Boston Borough Local Plan. Part of the site’s access leading to the main part 
of the site to the rear was however within the village envelope. Inset Map 8 of the 
South East Lincolnshire Local Plan also shows the majority of the site outside of the 
Sutterton village Envelope. This part of the village envelope follows the rear 
boundaries of the established dwellings fronting this section of Spalding Road.  

 
4.3 Policies in the South East Local Plan (2011-20136) that are relevant to this 

application are: 
 

 Policy 2- Development Management 
 Policy 3- Design of new development 
 Policy 4- Approach to flood risk 
 Policy 30-Pollution 
 Policy 36 Vehicle and Cycle Parking 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 9



 

 

 
 
4.4 National Planning Policy Framework (2019) 
 
 Relevant sections of the NPPF that are relevant to this application are: 
 

 Section 2 : Achieving sustainable development 
 Section 5 : Delivering a supply of homes 
 Section 12: Achieving well designed places 
 Section 14: Meeting climate change, flooding and coastal change 
 

5.0 Representations 
 
5.1 Ten letters of representation have been received; nine letters of objection and one 

letter in support of the application. The letters opposing the scheme have been 
submitted from the occupiers of the following properties: 

 
 Japonica, Spalding Road, Sutterton (x3) 

 Haydor, Spalding Road Sutterton 

 Fenbank, Spalding Road Sutterton 

 Highclere, Station Road Sutterton 

 Spalding Road Sutterton (no number or name given) 

 Forget Me Not, Spalding Road Sutterton 

 Jesmond Spalding Road, Sutterton. 

 
5.2  The letter in support of this application is from the occupier of the following property: 
 

 Ark Cottage, Spalding Road Sutterton. 

 

5.3 The occupier of this property supports this application and considers growth is a 

‘good thing for everyone’ and that the ‘whole point in having a village/town is to 

house population’. The occupiers adds that the village has very little in the way of 

amenities and that its ‘not just an ornamental show piece to look nice’ 

 
5.4 In addition, copies of letters have been received from the occupiers of Fenbank and 

Jesmond, both of Spalding Road which are addressed to the applicant/developer. 
It would appear that the applicant/developer has contacted the neighbours in order 
to address their concerns with regard to future maintenance of their existing fencing 
that runs along either side of the access road that will serve this development. The 
applicant/developer has suggested that the existing fences are taken down and 
replaced with the new acoustic fencing. Both neighbours have declined this 
suggestion.  

 
 Officer comment: This is a private matter between the applicants and the 

neighbours and is not a planning consideration. 
 
5.5 The neighbours identified above have raised objections on the following grounds: 
 

 Concerns that no evidence has been submitted with regard to condition 6 (future 

management and maintenance of the access road) and condition 9 (details of 

household waste collection) attached to the outline permission. 

 

Page 10



 

 

 Officer comment: These details will need to be submitted for approval to 

this Council in order for these conditions to be ‘discharged’. These details 

do not need to form part of this application for the approval of reserved 

matters. 

 

 Concerns over access and that the erection of an acoustic fencing, siting of bins 

for roadside collection, will affect the available width of access (which will be, 

according to the neighbour closer to around 3m ) for vehicular and pedestrian 

access.  

 Proposed plans show two areas within the site for communal bin storage behind 

neighbouring properties. There is a potential for 10 bins to be left out for collection 

potentially along the private drive which will affect access. 

 No development should be allowed to proceed until such time as the 

maintenance plan has been submitted and approved. 

 Concerns that the access does not meet required standards and will affect 

highway safety.  

 Concerns over ability of construction traffic, material delivery vehicles, utility 

vehicles, emergency vehicles to access the site.  

 Concerns over pedestrian safety especially when one vehicle is entering the site 

from Spalding Road and another is exiting the site. Danger for motorists using 

Spalding Road (i.e. B1397). 

 Application should be refused on lack of available access due to its width and 

inability to cope with construction traffic etc. No room for construction service 

bays near the entrance to the site and inadequate visibility splays may not be 

possible either.  

 One neighbour points out that the conditions recommended by the County 

Highway Authority were not included on the appeal decision letter. 

 This application does not include access and neighbour does not agree that all 

details relating to the access were approved at appeal stage given outstanding 

conditions. 

 DoT recently issued advice to Local Authorities discouraging the granting of 

schemes which included a shared access until further notice to enable further 

guidance to be issued. This is because shared drives may be potentially 

hazardous to the blind and partially blind. This development does not accord with 

the DoT rules. 

 No details have been submitted with regard to the provision of utilities, e.g. 

electric cables, foul water etc. within the site or along the access. 

 Concerns about the ability of neighbours to maintain their fences given that the 

proposed acoustic fencing will erected immediately adjacent to existing fencing. 

Concerns that any future maintenance be carried out on the road would prevent 

vehicular and pedestrian access to the site. 

 Proposed acoustic fence does not conform with Local Authority guidelines with 

regard to height and appearance that have applied to previous builds along this 

stretch of Spalding Road. 

 

 

 

Page 11



 

 

 

 Concerns that condition 5 attached to the outline permission requires the 

acoustic fence to be erected before occupation of any dwellings on site. This 

condition does not fairly consider the neighbours privacy and well -being during 

the construction period. 

 Loss of visual amenity, development will spoil rear outlooks and views. Impact 

on privacy, concerns regarding overlooking, noise disturbance and impact on 

amenity. 

 Concerns over future development of land to the north of the site given proposed 

layout shows access gate and corridor between plot 4 and 5. (Note: Plan shows 

this corridor as ‘maintenance access to rear field’.) 

 Development does not accord with Local Plan policies G1, G2, G3, G4, G6, C01, 

H3 and T2. 

 

Officer comment: The policies identified by the neighbours are those policies 

which formed part of the Boston Borough Local Plan. The policies that are 

relevant  to the current application  are those contained within the South East 

Lincolnshire Local Plan (2011-2036) and are identified in section 4 above. 

 

 Application is not for affordable housing 

 Concerns relating to encroachment of properties 

 Proposed fencing will have a detrimental effect on the character of the area which 

may cause obstruction to pedestrians and may affect amenity 

 Concerns over disposal of surface water, potential for third party flooding and 

impact on water table. 

 
6.0      Consultations 
 
6.1 Sutterton Parish Council has ‘no comments but has reservations’. The Parish 

Council does not elaborate on what these reservations are. 
 

6.2      County Highways Authority has no objections. 
 

6.3 Environment Agency has no objections given the submitted plans confirm that the 
minimum floor levels will be 3.5m ODN. 
 

6.4      Environmental Health Manager has no objections. 
 
 
7.0 Planning Issues and Discussions 
 
7.1 The key planning issues in the determination of this application are: 

 
 The principle of development having regard to development plan policies. 
 Access issues and impact on highway safety. 
 Impact on residential amenity. 
 Impact on the character and appearance of the countryside. 
 Flood risk and drainage. 

 
 

Page 12



 

 

 
 

The principle of development having regard to development plan policies 
 
 
7.2 The majority of the application site lies outside the Sutterton village envelope and 

within countryside as identified in the South East Lincolnshire Local Plan (2011-
2036) (i.e. SELLP). This is an area where policy 1 (d) (Spatial Strategy) of the 
SELLP would normally only allow such development where it is necessary to such 
a location and/or where it can be demonstrated that it meets the sustainable 
development needs of the area in terms of economic, community or environmental 
benefits.  

 
7.3 At the time outline permission B/17/0356 was determined by this Committee, the 

development plan consisted of the Boston Borough Local Plan and the majority of 
the application site was outside the village boundary (i.e within countryside) as  
identified within this document. At that time this Council did not have a 5 year supply 
of housing and therefore this Council’s housing supply policies were considered out 
of date. There was a presumption in favour of granting planning permission, ‘unless 
any adverse effects of the development would significantly and demonstrably 
outweigh the benefits, when assessed against the policies in the National Planning 
Policy Framework taken as a whole’.  This was a major factor in the determination 
of the appeal application, 

 
7.4 As indicated above, the outline application was refused by this Council and the 

subsequent appeal was upheld. In reaching this decision, the Planning Inspector 
considered that ‘… the proposed development would not significantly extend the 
boundary of the settlement into open countryside and would provide a neater edge 
to the village that would enhance the character and appearance of the area 
(paragraph 17 of the Planning Inspectors decision letter).  

 
7.5 As some Members are aware following the adoption of the SELLP, this Council now 

has a 5 year supply of housing which has considerable weight in the determination 
of applications for residential development. Therefore the ‘planning balance’ in the 
determination of such applications would be significantly different should the same 
type of application be submitted on this site today. In such an event, it is likely that 
this Council would be able to defend a refusal of a similar outline application at 
appeal on this site far more robustly and more successfully today than it did last 
year. Nevertheless, the fact that the outline approval ref B/17/0359 remains extant 
and that this current application is for the approval of reserved matters following the 
grant of this outline approval means that the principle of housing on this site has 
already been established and cannot be revisited again at reserved matters stage. 
This effectively means that Policy 1 (Spatial Strategy) as contained within the 
SELLP has no weight in the determination of this application. 

 
7.6 This current application is for the approval of reserved matters relating to the 

appearance, layout, landscaping and scale for residential development consisting 
of five detached dwellings and must therefore be assessed in relation to the 
objectives of the relevant policies identified above that form part of the SELLP. 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 13



 

 

 
Access issues and impact upon highway safety 

 
7.7 It is proposed utilise and upgrade the existing agricultural track that lies between 

two existing bungalows that front onto Spalding Road to serve this development. A 
number of neighbouring residents have raised concerns regarding access and the 
ability of the proposed access to accommodate the proposed housing development 
as detailed above. However, access to the site was approved at outline stage and 
is not a matter that was reserved for later approval. Thus, access does not form 
part of this current application for the approval of reserved matters and this 
Committee cannot revisit this matter in the assessment of this application. Access 
to the site was not a reason for this Council’s refusal of the outline application that 
was approved at appeal. 

 
7.8 The Planning Inspector at appeal acknowledged concerns that had been expressed 

by neighbouring residents at outline stage about pedestrian safety due to the width 
of the access road. The inspector states that ‘…. I consider that the existing track 
is wide enough to accommodate the safe passing of vehicles and pedestrians. I 
note that the highways authority reached a similar conclusion and raised no 
objection to the proposed access’ (paragraph 19 of the Inspector’s letter). 

 
7.9 A condition was attached by the Planning Inspector to the outline approval that 

requires the access and development to accord with plans that formed part of the 
outline application. These plans include details of the width of the access road 
(i.e.4.1m) , junction details and section details, including the provision of an acoustic 
fence either side of the access road (see below). Conditions have also attached 
that requires the submission for approval of details relating to the location of 
household waste collection and the future maintenance and management of the 
access road (i.e. Conditions 6 and 9). These conditions remain outstanding and the 
applicant will need to submit a future application for approval to discharge these 
conditions before development commences.  

 
7.10 The submitted layout includes the provision of a turning facility at the end of the 

roadways and each property will be served by attached or detached garage. The 
turning facility is large enough to accommodate emergency vehicles. Policy 36 of 
the SELLP requires the provision of 2 car spaces within the curtilage for dwellings 
up to 3 bedrooms and 3 spaces with 4 or more bedrooms. The guidelines indicates 
that a garage can count as one space if it is 2.6m x 5.6m width with an additional 
1m at the end to park cycles. 

 
7.11 Although the internal layout of the proposed detached and attached garages do not 

strictly comply with these required dimensions, there is adequate land to provide 
within each plot the necessary space for cycles and car parking provision to accord 
with the above mentioned policy. No objections have been received from the 
County highway Authority. 

 
Impact on residential amenity 

 
7.12 There are residential properties fronting Spalding Road within close proximity to the 

site and either side of the proposed access that will serve this development. The 
main part of the site where it is intended to erect the proposed five dwellings lie to 
the rear of seven residential properties and to the side of Elm Lodge to the east. 

 
 

Page 14



 

 

 
7.13 As indicated above, the proposed access to the site lies between two bungalows 

and in order to reduce noise disturbance and protect residential amenity of the 
occupiers of these adjacent properties, it is proposed to erect a 1.8m high acoustic 
fence along either side of the access road and adjacent to the existing boundary 
fencing. The access to the site including the provision of the acoustic fencing were 
approved at appeal at outline stage. The Planning Inspector did not consider that 
the neighbours amenity would be substantially harmed by pedestrian and vehicular 
traffic that would use the access road though a condition has been imposed (i.e. 
condition 5) that requires the fence to be erected before any dwellings are occupied. 

 
7.14 As indicated above, concerns remain by some neighbours about the impact that 

this development may have upon residential amenity, especially during the 
construction period. In order to mitigate against such impact a condition may be 
imposed that requires the submission of a construction management plan that 
identifies both how the development can be carried out without causing harm to 
residential amenity, including details relation to working hours etc. and which 
demonstrates how highway safety can be managed and protected during this 
period. 

 
7.15 It is proposed to erect five dwellings on this site; two will be bungalows (on plots 1 

and 5) and the other three dwellings being two or 1 and a half storey. The proposed 
bungalows on plots 1 and 5 will be located nearest to the southern boundary of the 
site shared with neighbouring properties and will be sited at around 5m or so from 
this boundary. The proposed detached garage that will serve plot 1 will be about 
3m from the southern boundary. The southern boundary of the site shared with 
these neighbouring occupiers is a mixture of both fencing and hedging of various 
types. 

 
7.16 The submitted layout plan shows the respective distances between the proposed 

five dwellings and the rear elevations of the neighbouring properties to the south. 
Apart from the proposed garages that will serve plots 1 and 5 all of the main parts 
of the proposed dwellings will be over 20m from the rear elevations of these 
neighbouring properties. This is acceptable. Although there are no locally adopted 
standards relating to minimum distances between the rear elevations of existing 
and proposed properties or in relation to overlooking of rear gardens, a ‘22m rule 
of thumb’ between elevations of existing and proposed properties has been used 
on many occasions by this Committee. This assumes two storey properties on level 
land. The proposed two storey houses on plots 2, 3 and 4 will be sited well in excess 
of this minimum distance.  

 
7.17 There is a dwelling to the east of the site known as Elm Lodge. The proposed 

bungalow with integral garage on plot 5 will be adjacent to Elm Lodge. The side 
elevation of the proposed dwelling at plot 5 will be about 4.5m from the shared 
boundary and the attached garage will be about 1.5m from the shared boundary. 
Most of this shared boundary is marked by extensive landscaping though part of 
Elm Lodge (and attached conservatory) is visible from the site. The proposed 
attached garage will be relatively close to the neighbours’ conservatory though the 
proposed relationship between these two properties is acceptable. 

 
 
 
 

Page 15



 

 

 
7.18 It is true to say that the presence of new buildings on open land where none exists 

at present may be intrusive and have, to some extent, an impact on the amenity 
and outlook of the neighbouring occupiers. However and as indicated above, the 
principle of residential development on this site has already been established and 
the main issue, in term of residential amenity will be whether the scale, appearance, 
layout or landscaping of the site will harm neighbours amenity. It is considered that 
although residential amenity will be to some extent eroded by this development, 
given the good quality designs and siting of the proposed dwellings, such harm will 
not be substantial. 

 
Impact on the character and appearance of the countryside 

 

7.19 The appeal outline application identified above was refused by this Council because 
it was considered the proposed development would be ‘out of character with the 
pattern of the surrounding development’ and would result in ‘material harm, contrary 
to saved policies G1, G6 and H3. The Planning Inspector did not agree and 
considered that the development ‘would enhance the character and appearance of 
the area’. (paragraph 17). 

 
7.20 The pattern of development in the area may be described as a mix of housing and 

commercial units with no dominant architectural style. The proposed five dwellings 
consisting of both bungalows and two storey dwellings of varying designs and 
materials will add to this housing mix. The submitted plan shows landscaping within 
the site consisting of fencing, hedging and tree planting though it is considered that 
further additional soft landscaping is required to enhance the setting of the scheme 
given its edge of countryside setting. A suitable landscaping condition may 
therefore be imposed to require an amended landscaping scheme to enhance the 
appearance and character of the area. 

 
Flood risk and drainage 

 

7.21 The site is within Flood Zone 3 and the outline application was accompanied by a 
flood risk assessment. The average land level is about 2.55m AOD and the Flood 
risk assessment recommended that the finished floor levels to be set at 3.5m AOD. 
A condition was imposed by the Planning Inspector that required the development 
to accord with the submitted Flood Risk Assessment. The submitted layout plan 
indicates that ground levels surrounding each of the proposed dwellings are to be 
graded into surrounding levels to the rear of the development to reduce the 
prominence of the proposed raised dwellings and to ensure that they assimilate 
within their surroundings. 

 
7.22 Condition 7 attached to the outline approval requires the submission of a foul and 

surface water scheme before development commences. It is proposed to install a 
perforated land drain along the southern boundary of the site adjacent to the 
boundary fencing. This drain will accommodate potential surface water discharge 
overflow given raised land levels. The surface water will discharge into existing 
drains that are located along the east and western boundaries. The Welland and 
Deepings Internal Drainage Board (IDB) commented at outline stage that consent 
from the IDB would be required if surface water is to be discharged from the site. 
The IDB has not commented on this current application and no further details have 
been submitted with regard to surface water disposal. However the submitted plans 
indicate that if the surface water discharge into the adjacent dykes is not suitable 
then soakaways will be used. 

 

Page 16



 

 

  
 
 
7.23 With regard to the disposal of foul water, it is proposed to install a wastewater 

treatment plant though no details of the foul drainage layout or the location of the 
treatment plant have been submitted.  

 
7.24 The requirements of condition 7 with regard to both surface water and foul water 

remain outstanding and this condition has therefore not been discharged. An 
informative should be imposed on the decision notice which reminds the applicant 
that this condition remains outstanding. 

 
 
8.0      Summary and Conclusion 

 
8.1 The principle of residential development and access to it has been established by 

the outline permission that was granted at appeal.  Extensive concerns have been 
expressed by some neighbours about access to the site and the ability of the road 
(with particular regard to its width) to serve this development and whilst these 
concerns are understandable such matters are therefore not for consideration at 
this reserved matters stage.  

 
8.2 The majority of the site is outside the village limits as defined in the SELLP and the 

outline permission was granted by the Planning Inspector at a time when this 
Council could not demonstrate a 5 year supply of housing. Following the adoption 
of the SELLP this Council now has a 5 year supply so it is likely that if the same 
type of outline application were to be submitted today on this site, it would likely be 
refused by this Council and perhaps any subsequent appeal would likely fail. 
However, this is not the case before this Committee and the main issues for 
consideration of this current application relates to the detail, design and layout of 
the proposed scheme. 

 
8.3 It is considered that the design of the scheme is of good quality. There is adequate 

separation distances between the existing  and proposed dwellings, the designs of 
each dwelling are materials are acceptable. It is concluded that subject to a 
satisfactory enhanced landscaping scheme, this development will not harm the 
amenity of residents or the character of the area and therefore accords with the 
objectives of the relevant policies contained with the SELLP and the NPPF. 

 
8.4 As indicated above it is recommended that an informative is inserted on the decision 

notice which reminds the applicant that conditions 1-9 attached to the outline 
condition (including conditions relating to access, acoustic fencing, drainage, road 
maintenance and household waste collection) apply to this development and 
remain outstanding. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 17



 

 

 
 
 

9.0 Recommendation:  GRANT 

 
 
9.1 It is recommended that this application is approved subject to the conditions set out 

below. 
 
1  The development hereby approved shall be carried out in accordance with the 

following approved plans: 
 

 Location  plan and block plan ref 19/01/HRH/pr-01 rev B 

 Proposed site plan ref- 19/HRH/Pr-02 rev C 

 Plot 1 -Proposed floor and roof plans ref 19/01/HRH/Pr-03 rev B 

 Plot 2 -Proposed floor and roof plans ref 19/01/HRH/Pr-06 rev A 

 Plot 3 –Proposed floor and roof plans ref 19/01/HRH/Pr-09 rev A 

 Plot 4 –Proposed floor and roof plans ref 19/01/HRH/Pr-11 rev A 

 Plot 5 – Proposed floor plan and roof plans ref 19/01/HRH/Pr -13 rev B 

 Plot 1 Proposed elevations ref 19/01/HRH/Pr-04 

 Plot 2 –Proposed elevations ref 19/HRH/Pr-07  

 Plot 3- Proposed elevations ref 19/01/HRH/Pr-10 

 Plot 4- Proposed elevations ref19/01/HRH/Pr-12 

 Plot 5- Proposed elevations ref 19/01/HRH/Pr-14 

 Plot 2-Proposed elevations and Proposed detached garage- plots 2 and 4 
ref 19/01/HRH/Pr-08 

 Proposed detached garage –plot 1 ref 19/01/HRH/Pr-05 
 

 Reason:  To ensure the development is undertaken in accordance with the 
approved details and to accord with Policies 2 and 3 of the South East Lincolnshire 
Local Plan (2011-2036). 

 
2   Notwithstanding the submitted details, before any development takes place above 

ground level, full details of hard and soft landscaping works shall have been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority.  The scheme 
shall include: 
 
a) boundary treatment 
b) hard surface materials 
c) minor structures 
d) planting schedules (species, sizes densities) 
e) existing trees to be retained/removed 
 
Reason:  In the interests of visual amenity and in accordance with Section 197 of the 
1990 Act which requires Local Planning Authorities to ensure, where appropriate, 
adequate provision is made for the preservation or planting of trees, and to ensure 
that the approved scheme is implemented satisfactorily.  The condition accords with 
Policies 2 and 3 of the South East Lincolnshire Local Plan (2011-2036). 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 18



 

 

 
 

3 All landscape works shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details 
within 6 months of the date of the first occupation of any building or completion of 
development whichever is the sooner. Any trees, plants, grassed areas which within 
a period of 5 years from the date of planting die, are removed or become seriously 
damaged or diseased shall be replaced in the first available planting season with 
others of similar size species or quality. 

 

 Reason:  In the interests of visual amenity and in accordance with Section 197 of the 
1990 Act which requires Local Planning Authorities to ensure, where appropriate, 
adequate provision is made for the preservation or planting of trees, and to ensure 
that the approved scheme is implemented satisfactorily. The condition accords with 
the objectives of policies 2 and 3 of the South East Lincolnshire Local Plan (2011-
2036). 
 

4  Before occupation of any of the dwellings hereby approved details of the external 
lighting including future maintenance and management to be provided along the 
private drive shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. The works shall be carried as approved before occupation of any dwelling 
house or in accordance with timescales to be agreed in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. 
 

Reason: In the interests of residential amenity, safety and crime prevention and to 
accord with the objectives of Policies 2 and 3 of the South East Lincolnshire Local 
Plan (2011-2036). 
 

5  Prior to the commencement of the development hereby approved, a construction 
management plan shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. The construction management plan shall prescribe how the construction of 
the site will be phased, where wheel wash facilities will be provided, hours of working, 
where accommodation and welfare facilities will be provided, where site vehicles and 
vehicles of site personnel will be parked and where materials will be stored and 
delivered on site. Construction of the permitted development will be undertaken in 
accordance with the approved construction management plan. 
 

Reason:  In the interests of amenity and the safety and highway safety and to 
accord with the objectives of policies 2, 3 and 30 of the South East Lincolnshire 
Local Plan (2011-2036). This is a pre-commencement condition due to the fact that 
the management of plant, site equipment etc needs to be agreed prior to the 
commencement of any development to ensure that neighbour’s amenity and safety 
are respected. ‘ 
 

Note to applicant: You should be aware that conditions 1-9 attached to outline permission 
ref B/17/0359 apply to this development. 
 
In determining this application the authority has taken account of the guidance in 
paragraph 38 of the National Planning Policy Framework 2019 in order to seek to secure 
sustainable development that improves the economic, social and environmental conditions 
of the Borough. 
 
 

Lisa Hughes 
Growth Manager 

Page 19



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 21



Page 22



Page 23



Page 24



Page 25



Page 26



Page 27



Page 28



 

 
 
 
 

REPORT TO: Planning Committee 

DATE: 28 May 2019 

SUBJECT: Receipt of Appeal Decisions 

PORTFOLIO HOLDER: Not known at time of issue of agenda 

REPORT AUTHOR: Growth Manager 

EXEMPT REPORT?  
 

No 

 
 
 

SUMMARY 
 
 

The purpose of this report is to advise members of the receipt of appeal decision in respect 
of: 
 

 Location: 7 Willington Road, Kirton, Boston, PE20 1EH 
 

 Planning Reference B/18/0293 
 

 Planning Decision: Delegated 
 
 

Reason(s) for Refusal:  
 

 

1. The application site is too small to accommodate the proposed development in a 
satisfactory manner and would appear cramped, overdeveloped and out of character 
with the form and pattern of development in the surrounding area.  Furthermore the 
modern design of the proposed dwelling will pose as an alien and unsympathetic 
feature to the amenity and appearance of the Kirton Conservation Area and would 
contravene the objectives of the National Planning Policy Framework (2018). 
 

2. The development, by virtue of its location to the rear of existing houses, its layout and 
poor relationship with adjacent properties coupled with the resultant small garden 
areas will be incompatible with the overall characteristics of the neighbourhood and 
would provide a poor quality housing scheme. The development would provide a poor 
outlook, unpleasant and oppressive living conditions for the future occupiers of the 
proposed dwelling. The development is therefore contrary to the objectives of Local 
Plan policies H2 and H3. 
 

3. The application site includes a shared driveway which is located to the side of 7 
Willington Road. This driveway will provide access to the main part of the site where it 
is intended to construct the proposed dwelling, i.e. to the rear of 7 Willington Road. 
The rear elevation and rear garden area of 7 Willington Road would be clearly visible 
by pedestrians and motorists travelling along this driveway when gaining access to 
and from the application site.  

B   O   S   T   O   N 
  B O R O U G H  C O U N C I L  

 

 

 

Page 29

Agenda Item 2



 

 
 
The rear elevation and rear garden of this property will also be clearly visible from the 
main part of the application site where it is intended to construct the proposed 
dwelling. The proposed development will generate traffic (pedestrian and potentially 
vehicular) along this driveway which will cause substantial harm to the amenity of the 
occupiers of this property, by virtue of noise disturbance, overlooking and loss of 
privacy. Collectively, the proposed development will therefore substantially harm the 
amenity of the neighbouring  residents, contrary to the objectives of Local Plan policy 
G1. 

 
Appeal Decision:    Allowed 

 
A copy of the Inspector’s decision is attached to this report. 
  

 

 
RECOMMENDATION 
 

The Committee are asked to note this report. 
 

 

 
REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION 
 

To address the Service Plan 2019/20 
  

 
1.0 INTRODUCTION 
 
1.1 It is established practice that all appeal decisions are reported to Planning Committee as 

part of performance monitoring and to consider if any particular decisions raise issues 
which might influence practice or future decision making.  
 

1.2 All applicants have a right of appeal against the decision of the planning authority, over a 
refusal, an approval with conditions (if the conditions are unacceptable to the applicant) 
and in cases of ‘non-determination’ where the authority has not issued a decision within 
the prescribed 8 or 13-week period without an agreed ‘extension of time’. This right of 
appeal applies to all categories and types of applications – including Enforcement and 
other Notices where there are defined categories or grounds of appeal which any 
appellant has to follow. 

 
2.0 APPEAL DECISIONS  
 
 7 Willington Road, Kirton, Boston, PE20 1EH 
 
2.1 The Inspector considered that there were three main issues: 

 

 Whether the proposed development preserves or enhances the character and 
appearance of the Kirton Conservation Area; 

 Whether the proposed development would provide a suitable living environment for 
future occupiers with particular regard to outlook; and 

 The effect of the proposed development on the living conditions of 7 Willington Road 
with particular regard to noise disturbance and privacy. 

Page 30



 

 
 
 
2.2 Character and Appearance – The Inspector considered the existing building to be run-

down with the appeal site providing a moderate contribution to the conservation area.  
Limited visibility of the site exists from Willington Road although it can be partly seen 
from the rear from Penny Gardens.  The design and materials would be in keeping with 
the area and whilst the flat roof would be uncommon, due to being set back and clad in 
timber would be sympathetic to the character.   
 

2.3 The footprint would be smaller than the existing building and an adequate amount of 
outdoor amenity space, given the size of the property, would be provided.  The plot size 
would be comparable to other developments in the locality. 
 

2.4 Outlook – Proposed windows would face south and being roughly floor to ceiling in 
height would not create a claustrophobic environment.  Thus a suitable living 
environment would be provided.   
 

2.5 Living Conditions – Number 7 would likely currently suffer a degree of noise and 
disturbance by occupiers of 1 Willington Road accessing their garden and garage.  No 
parking is proposed and the increase in footfall by pedestrians accessing the property 
would unlikely cause undue noise and disturbance.  The Inspector considered that even 
if one parking space was provided, due to the driveway already providing access to the 
garage at number 1, the increase in traffic would not cause undue noise and 
disturbance. 
 

2.6 Loss of privacy would be limited by virtue of the size of the development which would 
likely only accommodate 1 or 2 people.  Additionally, the depth of the garden would 
result in limited overlooking.   
 

2.7 On this basis, the Inspector allowed the appeal, granting planning permission. 
 

3.0 CONCLUSION  

3.1 For the year to date, of the 9 appeal decisions, 1 was withdrawn by the appellant, 4 
allowed and 4 dismissed.  Therefore, the Planning Inspectorate determined 8 appeals 
and the Council has been successful in 50% of the cases.  This compares unfavourably 
to the local Performance Indicator which tolerates 1 out of 5 going against the Council 
(20%). 

3.2 The Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government (MHCLG) monitors 
authorities in relation to the number of major and non-major applications overturned (i.e. 
allowed) at appeal.  The threshold is for fewer than 20% of all major applications 
determined overturned at appeal over a rolling two-year period (i.e. the total number of 
major decisions divided by the total number overturned).  For authorities who exceed 
this target, they will be classed as ‘poorly performing’ and applications for major 
developments may be made by developers directly to the Planning Inspectorate. For the 
previous 2 years, of the 86 decisions made, only 2 major application had been 
overturned which represents 2.3%.  The Council is therefore well within the statutory 
target. 

3.3 The Government is also monitoring the threshold for quality of decisions for non-major 
applications, the threshold for which is 10%.  Like the major threshold, this is the total 
number of non-major applications overturned at appeal compared to the total number of 

Page 31



 

non-major decisions made.  Of the 732 applications determined, 9 were allowed. The 
percentage is therefore 1.2%.  The Council is therefore significantly within government’s 
target and not at risk of being classed as poorly performing. 

 

 

 

 

 
FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
None 
 

 

 
LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 
None 
 

 

 
ANY OTHER IMPLICATIONS 
None 
 

 
CONSULTATION   Portfolio Holder: Councillor Michael Cooper 
 

 
APPENDICES 
 

APPENDIX 1.     Appeal Decision 7 Willington Raod  Kirton  Boston.  
 

 

 
BACKGROUND PAPERS 
 

Background papers used in the production of this report are listed below: - 
 

Document title 
 
Appeal file and application file. 

 7 Willington Road, Kirton, 
Boston, PE20 1EH – 
B/18/0293 

 

Where the document can be viewed 
 
Development Management 

 

Page 32



  

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate 

 
 

 

Appeal Decision 
Site visit made on 15 March 2019 

by R Sabu BA(Hons) MA BArch PgDip ARB RIBA 

an Inspector appointed by the Secretary of State  

Decision date: 18 April 2019 

 

Appeal Ref: APP/Z2505/W/18/3215392 

Land rear of 7 Willington Road, Willington Road, Kirton, Boston PE20 1EH 

• The appeal is made under section 78 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 
against a refusal to grant planning permission. 

• The appeal is made by Mr Sellers of Ray Sellars Quality Homes against the decision of 

Boston Borough Council. 
• The application Ref B/18/0293, dated 22 May 2018, was refused by notice dated 

5 September 2018. 
• The development proposed is demolition of builders storage shed and construction of a 

1 bedroom starter home dwelling. 
 

Decision 

1. The appeal is allowed and planning permission is granted for demolition of 
builders storage shed and construction of a 1 bedroom starter home dwelling, 

at Land rear of 7 Willington Road, Willington Road, Kirton, Boston PE20 1EH in 

accordance with the terms of the application, Ref B/18/0293, dated 

22 May 2018, subject to the attached Schedule of Conditions. 

Procedural Matter 

2. I note that the South East Lincolnshire Local Plan 2011-2036 Adopted 

March 2019 (LP) has been adopted since the Council’s decision notice was 
issued. I have therefore made my determination having regard to the LP 

rather than the former development plan policies cited in the Council’s reasons 

for refusal of planning permission. 

3. Following the adoption of the LP, the Council submitted a number of policies in 

relation to this appeal. Given that there were several reasons for refusal in the 
Decision Notice, I have considered each of the main issues with reference to 

only those policies that are directly relevant in each case. 

Main Issues 

4. The main issues are: 

• whether the proposed development preserves or enhances the character 
and appearance of Kirton Conservation Area (KCA);  

• whether the proposed development would provide a suitable living 

environment for future occupiers with particular regard to outlook; and 

• the effect of the proposed development on the living conditions of the 

occupiers of 7 Willington Road (No 7) with particular regard to noise 

disturbance and privacy.  

Page 33

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/Z2505/W/18/3215392 
 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          2 

Reasons 

Character and appearance 

5. The appeal site lies within KCA, the significance of which lies in the evidence of 
historic vernacular architecture. The appeal site lies behind 7 Willington Road 

(No 7) and while there is limited visibility from Willington Road, the site is 

partly visible from Penny Gardens and the nearby church yard. Given that the 

existing building on the site appears to be run-down, the appeal site provides 
moderate contribution to KCA. 

6. The proposed building would be partly one, and partly two storeys high with 

flat roofs. The proposed materials would be in keeping with the character and 

appearance of the area, and while the flat roof would be uncommon in the 

area, the parts of the upper storey that would be visible from Penny Gardens 
and the church yard would be set back and clad in timber cladding such that 

the effect would be sympathetic to the character of KCA.  

7. The footprint of the proposed building would be smaller than the existing 

building and would provide an adequate outdoor amenity space given the 

modest size of the property. In addition, since the garden sizes of No 7 and 
No 9 Willington Road (No 9) are modest, and that the parapet height would be 

lower than the eaves height of the Old Chapel, the proposal would not appear 

overly large for the size of the plot compared to the adjacent properties and 
would therefore appear to be in harmony with the pattern of development in 

the area.  

8. Therefore, the proposed development would preserve the character and 

appearance of KCA and would accord with LP Policies 2 and 3 which together 

seek that considerations are met in relation to character and appearance 
among other things. It would also accord with Policy 29 which relates to 

heritage assets including Conservation Areas. 

Outlook 

9. The proposal includes south facing windows from the lounge, kitchen and 

bedroom that would be roughly floor to ceiling height. Given that these would 

provide outlook across garden space that, from the evidence before me, would 

be roughly 4m deep, the proposed development would provide adequate 
outlook for future occupants and would not create a claustrophobic 

environment. 

10. Consequently, the proposed development would provide a suitable living 

environment for future occupiers with particular regard to outlook, and would 

accord with LP Policy 3 which relates to residential amenity among other 
things. 

Living conditions 

11. The main entrance and garden of No 7 is at the rear of the property and faces 
the appeal site. It is accessed via a private drive which also appears to be 

used by the occupiers of No 1 Willington Road (No 1) when accessing their 

garage and rear garden. Consequently, given the low-level wall at the 

boundary of No 7, the occupiers are likely to be experiencing an existing 
degree of noise and disturbance. The proposed dwelling would have one 

bedroom and there is no proposed car parking provision. Consequently, given 

Page 34

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/Z2505/W/18/3215392 
 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          3 

that the proposal is for one dwelling only, the increase of pedestrians passing 

No 7 would be limited such that it would be unlikely to cause undue noise and 

disturbance in this regard.  

12. Although there are no parking spaces indicated on the drawings, I note that 

the site has space to provide one parking space in the future. Even if this 
space were to be used for parking, given that vehicles currently use the 

driveway, and that the proposed development would only have 1 parking 

space, any increase in vehicular and pedestrian traffic would be unlikely to 
cause undue noise and disturbance.  

13. Turning my attention to privacy, given the low-level boundary wall, the 

window on the flank elevation of the building, and the adjacent access drive, 

the occupiers of No 7 are likely to be accommodated to a degree overlooking 

from people using the access drive. Given that the proposed development is 
likely to have only one or two future occupants, the increase in the number of 

people accessing the drive and passing in front of the garden of No 7, would 

be minimal such that there would not be substantial harm to privacy caused 

by the proposed development. Furthermore, the depth of the garden of No 7 is 
such that overlooking from the appeal site would be limited. 

14. Consequently, the proposed development would not harm the living conditions 

of the occupiers of 7 Willington Road (No 7) with particular regard to noise 

disturbance and privacy and would not conflict with LP Policy 2 which relates 

to the impact upon neighbouring land uses by reason of noise, odour, 
disturbance or visual intrusion, among other things. 

15. LP Policy 4 relates to flood risk and LP Policy 5 relates to infrastructure and are 

not directly relevant to the main issues. In addition, LP Policies 30, 31, 32 

and 36 relate to Pollution, Climate change, Community, health and well-being 

and Vehicle and Cycle parking respectively and are not directly relevant to the 
main issues.  

Other Matters 

16. I note the concerns regarding drainage and archaeology, however I am 
satisfied that these issues may be dealt with by relevant conditions. 

17. I acknowledge local concerns regarding highways safety related to any 

increased vehicular use of the access. The Highways Authority have not 

objected to the proposal and from the evidence before me, I see no reason to 

disagree. 

18. I acknowledge the neighbour’s concerns regarding the effect of the proposed 

development on light to the Old Chapel. From the evidence before me, the 
building appears to be of a business use and whilst there may be an effect on 

the light to the windows that face the appeal site, there is no evidence before 

me to justify withholding planning permission on these grounds.  

19. I acknowledge concerns regarding ownership of the access. However, I have 

restricted my assessment to the planning matters before me and this has not 
altered my decision. 

  

Page 35

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/Z2505/W/18/3215392 
 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          4 

Conditions 

20. I have considered the conditions suggested by the Council.  I have made some 

minor changes to these having regard to the tests set out in paragraph 55 of 

the National Planning Policy Framework and the guidance contained in the 

Planning Practice Guidance.    

21. In addition to the standard time limit condition, I have included a condition 

requiring that the development is carried out in accordance with the approved 
plans. This is in the interest of certainty and to safeguard the character and 

appearance of the area. I have also attached a condition relating to the 

external materials to safeguard the character and appearance of the area. 

22. A condition relating to contamination is necessary given that the existing 

building was a former builders storage yard/workshop and there is a low risk 
of contamination on the site.  

23. Given the proximity of the site to the church yard, a condition relating to 

archaeology is necessary. Given that it could affect works that are likely to be 

carried out early in the construction phase, the condition needs to be 

pre-commencement. 

24. Since the proposal includes drainage to a soakaway on the site, a condition 

relating to surface drainage is necessary to safeguard the living conditions of 
neighbouring occupiers and future occupants of the proposed development. 

25. In accordance with Section 100ZA(5) of the Town and Country Planning Act 

1990, in response to a request by e-mail, the appellant has confirmed that 

they approve of the pre-commencement conditions. 

Conclusion 

26. For the reasons given above, subject to conditions, the appeal is allowed. 

 

R Sabu 

INSPECTOR 

 

Schedule of Conditions 

1) The development hereby permitted shall begin no later than 3 years 

from the date of this decision. 

2) The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance 
with the following approved plans and documents: drawing numbers - 

01, 03B, 04A, 05A, 06 and Flood Risk Assessment undertaken by RM 

Associates May 2018 Version 2.  

3) No development above ground shall take place until samples of all 
external facing materials have been submitted to and approved by the 

Local Planning Authority in writing. The relevant works shall be carried 

out in accordance with the approved sample details. 

4) Any contamination that is found during the course of construction of the 

approved development that was not previously identified shall be 

Page 36

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/Z2505/W/18/3215392 
 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          5 

reported immediately to the Local Planning Authority. Development on 

the part of the site affected shall be suspended and a risk assessment 

carried out and submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. Where unacceptable risks are found remediation and 

verification schemes shall be submitted to and approved in writing by 

the Local Planning Authority. These approved schemes shall be carried 

out before the development is resumed or continued.  

5) No demolition/development shall take place until a Written Scheme of 

Investigation has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 

Planning Authority. The scheme shall include an assessment of 
significance and research questions – and: 

• the programme and methodology of site investigation and 

recording;  

• the programme for post investigation assessment;  

• the provision to be made for analysis of the site investigation and 

recording;  

• the provision to be made for publication and dissemination of the 
analysis and records of the site investigation;  

• the provision to be made for archive deposition of the analysis and 

records of the site investigation;  

• the nomination of a competent person or persons/organization to 

undertake the works set out within the Written Scheme of 

Investigation 

No demolition/development shall take place other than in accordance 
with the approved Written Scheme of Investigation. 

6) No development shall take place until details of a surface water strategy 

has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. The works shall be implemented prior to the occupation of the 

development hereby permitted and shall be retained as such thereafter.  

Page 37

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


This page is intentionally left blank



 
 
 
 
 

REPORT TO: Planning Committee 

DATE: 28 May 2019 

SUBJECT: General Permitted Development Update 

PORTFOLIO HOLDER: Unknown at time of issue of report. 

REPORT AUTHOR: Growth Manager 

EXEMPT REPORT? No 

 
 
 

 
SUMMARY 
 
The Government has recently published the outcome to the consultation “Planning 
Reform - Supporting the high street and increasing the delivery of new homes" which 
ran for 11 weeks from 29/10/2018 until 14/01/2019.  Following publication of the  
Government’s outcome, legislation relating to permitted development has been 
amended which came into effect on 25 May 2019. 
 

The main changes are summarised below. 

 
 
 

 
RECOMMENDATIONS 
 

That Committee note the report. 
 
 
 

 
REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS 
 

To update the Planning Committee on recent legislative changes. 
 
 
 

 
ALTERNATIVES CONSIDERED 
 

None 
 
 

B   O   S   T   O   N 
  B O R O U G H  C O U N C I L  

 

 

 

Page 39

Agenda Item 3



 
REPORT 
 
1.1  The Government consulted between 29th October 2018 and 14th January on 

“Planning Reform - Supporting the high street and increasing the delivery of 
new homes".  The outcome of the consultation was published earlier this 
month. 

  
1.2 The objective of the consultation was to ensure the planning system supports 

the creation of new businesses and homes.  Planning has a critical role to play 
in the future of our high streets and in underpinning the delivery of much 
needed new homes.  

 
1.3 The revised National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF), published in 

February 2019, sets out policies to ensure the vitality of town centres by taking 
a positive approach to their growth, management and adaptation.  The 
Framework aims to drive greater housing delivery where it is needed most and 
promote more efficient use of land.  With good design, protections for valued 
green spaces and community support, the Government considers the high 
street can be revitalised to support business and deliver new homes.   

 
1.4 The NPPF is a key element of the Government’s reforms. However, they wish 

to go further to give greater certainty and speed wherever possible.   This will 
be by giving local areas the opportunity to make the most effective use of 
existing buildings, both for business and residential use.  As a result, a 
number of changes to permitted development rights have been introduced 
which came into effect on 25th May.  The full details may be found within “The 
Town and Country Planning (Permitted Development, Advertisement and 
Compensation Amendments) (England) Regulations 2019“ (Statutory 
Instrument 2019 No. 907).  The key changes are highlighted below. 

 
1.5 Large Domestic Extensions – Dwellinghouses, subject to approval of a prior 

approval application were permitted to extend to the rear of their homes by up 
to 8 metres in the case of a detached house or 6 metres for a terraced or 
semi-detached.  However, the time limit for completing the works was the 30th 
May 2019.  This date has now been omitted meaning that this class of 
permitted development (PD) is now permanent.   

 
1.6 Change of Use to B1(a) Offices - A new Class of PD has been introduced 

which permits a change of use of a building from a use falling within Class A1 
(shops), Class A2 (financial and professional services), or Class A5 (hot food 
takeaways) or from use as a betting office, pay day loan shop or launderette, 
to a use falling within Class B1(a) (offices).   There is a qualifying date of 29 
October 2018 for the pre-existing use and a floorspace limit of 500 sq m.  
There are exclusions and a prior approval application is required in respect of 
transport and highways impacts, noise impacts from neighbouring commercial 
and retail premises, and any impact that the development may have on the 
availability in the area of services of the sort that were provided by the pre-
existing use.  

 

Page 40



 
 

1.7 Change of Use from Takeaway to Dwellinghouse - it is now possible to 
convert an A5 takeaway unit into a dwellinghouse.  This expands upon 
existing PD rights to convert A1 and A2 units into dwellings.  This, again, is 
subject to prior approval of a number of aspects including retail impact 
assessment. 

 
1.8 Residential Conversion of an Agricultural Building - Clarification of the 

floorspace limit has been included.  This provides that the floor space of any 
[one] dwellinghouse developed under Class Q must not exceed 465 square 
metres.  A maximum of 5 dwellings may be provided with limitation on the total 
amount of floorspace that might be provided.   

 
1.9 Temporary Use of Various Business Premises – The number of uses that 

can be flexibly implemented has been expanded.  The uses that a developer 
can go from comprises: 

 
shops, financial and professional services, restaurants and cafes, drinking 
establishments, hot food takeaways, B1 (business), non-residential 
institutions, assembly and leisure or a use as a betting office or pay day loan 
shop to 

; 
 shops, financial and professional services, restaurants and cafes, B1 

(business), the provision of any medical or health services except the use of 
premises attached to the residence of the consultant or practitioner, the 
display of works of art (otherwise than for sale or hire), museum, public library 
or public reading room, or public hall or exhibition hall. 

 
 The single period during which the premises can be put to another use under 

this Class of PD is also extended from 2 years to 3 years. 

 
1.10 Electric Charging Points – The height of electrical upstands and outlets for 

recharging electric vehicles has been increased to 2.3 metres from 1.6 metres. 
It also clarifies that the previous height limit of 1.6 metres still applies to 
upstands and outlets within the curtilage of a dwellinghouse or block of flats.  

 
1.11 Public Telephone Boxes and Advertisements  - the installation, alteration or 

replacement of a public call box (telephone box) could previously be 
undertaken as permitted development.  However, this PD right has now been 
withdrawn and planning permission is now required for their alteration, 
installation or replacement.    Additionally, the Advertisement Regulations 
have been amended.  The display of advertisements on phone boxes 
previously benefited from deemed consent (i.e. advertisement consent did not 
need to be obtained prior to an advertisement being displayed).  This right has 
now been removed and any advertisement on a phone box now requires 
advertisement control consent.   

 
 
 

Page 41



 
 
 
2.0 Other Changes Being Considered  
 
2.1 The Government also consulted upon a number of other permitted 

development rights.  The following are all still under consideration: 
  

(a) Extending Buildings Upward to Create Additional New Homes or to 
Enlarge an Existing Home - the consultation document proposed that 
these new PD rights would apply to "premises in a range of uses that 
are compatible with C3 residential use" which could include  

 A1 (shops),  
 A2 (financial and professional services),  
 A3 (restaurants and cafes),  
 B1(a) (offices),  
 C3 (dwellinghouses),  
 betting office, pay day loan shop, launderette, 
 buildings in mixed use within these uses, as well as  
 (potentially) health centres and buildings used for community 

and leisure purposes (i.e. certain D1 and D2 uses) and  
 Out of town retail parks with a mix of shopping and leisure uses”. 

 
Alternative approaches to height limits were suggested.  One approach would 
be to allow premises in a terrace (of two or more properties) to extend 
upwards to "the main roofline of the highest building in the existing terrace".  
An alternative approach would be to allow premises to extend upwards to "the 
prevailing roof height in the locality".   Other restrictions regarding heights 
were suggested.   
 
(b) Demolition of commercial buildings and replacement with homes – this 

permitted development right could apply (if enacted) to all commercial 
buildings including, for example, those within designated employment 
sites. 

 
When the Government issues the outcome on these 2 aspects, a report will be 
presented to Planning Committee. 
 
 
 

CONCLUSION 
 
A number of additional permitted development rights are now in force.  These are 
subject to prior approval from the local planning authority (lpa).  The criteria which 
can be considered as part of such an application is defined within legislation as well 
as the timescales for dealing with such applications.  If a lpa does not determine the 
application within the statutory timescale, the developer may go ahead with the 
development, subject to complying with the conditions and limitations set out in 
legislation. 
 

Page 42



 

 
FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
 

None 
 

 
 

 
LEGAL & EQUALITY IMPLICATIONS 
 

The Town and Country Planning (Permitted Development, Advertisement and 
Compensation Amendments) (England) Regulations 2019 
 

 
 

ANY OTHER IMPLICATIONS 
 

None 

 
CONSULTATION 
 
None 
 

 
APPENDICES 
 

None 
 

 
 
 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 
 

Background papers used in the production of this report are listed below: - 
 

Document title Where the document can be viewed 
 

 
Government response to consultation 
on Planning Reform - Supporting the 
high street and increasing the delivery 
of new homes (May 2019) 
 

 
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/go
vernment/uploads/system/uploads/attachm
ent_data/file/799220/Government_Respon
se_to_Planning_Reform_Consultation.pdf 
 

 
The Town and Country Planning 
(Permitted Development, Advertisement 
and Compensation Amendments) 
(England) Regulations 2019 
 

 
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2019/90
7/pdfs/uksi_20190907_en.pdf 

 

Page 43

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/799220/Government_Response_to_Planning_Reform_Consultation.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/799220/Government_Response_to_Planning_Reform_Consultation.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/799220/Government_Response_to_Planning_Reform_Consultation.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/799220/Government_Response_to_Planning_Reform_Consultation.pdf
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2019/907/pdfs/uksi_20190907_en.pdf
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2019/907/pdfs/uksi_20190907_en.pdf


This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

 

 

REPORT TO: Planning Committee 

DATE: 28th May 2019 

SUBJECT: Assessment of 5-year housing land supply 

PORTFOLIO HOLDER: Not known at time of issue of agenda. 

REPORT AUTHOR: Simon Eldred 

EXEMPT REPORT? No 

 

 

SUMMARY 
 
Since the publication of the first version of the National Planning Policy Framework 
(NPPF) in March 2012, the Government has required local planning authorities to 
“identify and update annually a supply of specific deliverable sites sufficient to provide 
a minimum of five years’ worth of housing against their housing requirement”. The 
Borough Council has sought to fulfil this requirement by producing an ‘Assessment of 
5-year Housing Land Supply’ at least once per year and, in all, thirteen such 
documents have been produced. Thus far, all of the Assessments have concluded 
that the Council did not have a five-year supply of deliverable housing sites. 
 
The latest Assessment (based on the position as at 31st March 2019) is the first to 
conclude that the Council has a five-year supply of deliverable housing sites. This 
report seeks to bring this fact to the Committee’s attention, and invites the Committee 
to approve the document for publication. 
  
 

 

RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
It is recommended that the Planning Committee: 

1. notes the contents of the ‘Assessment of 5-year housing land supply as at 31st 
March 2019’ (see Appendix to this report); and 

2. approves the document for publication.  
 
 

 

REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
It is considered to be important that the Planning Committee should be aware of the 
fact that the latest Assessment demonstrates a five-year supply of deliverable 
housing sites, because this is of fundamental importance to how the Borough Council 
should deal with residential planning applications. 

B   O   S   T   O   N 
  B O R O U G H  C O U N C I L  

 

 

 

Page 45

Agenda Item 4



ALTERNATIVES CONSIDERED 
Assessments are largely factual documents and past versions have not been brought 
to the Planning Committee for approval, and the latest version could have been dealt 
with in the same way. However, the findings of this Assessment are radically different 
to those of its predecessors (with different implications for how residential planning 
applications should be dealt with). 
 
 

 

REPORT 
 
Background 
 
1.1 The publication of the Government’s first National Planning Policy Framework 

(NPPF) in March 2012 introduced the concept of a ‘five-year land supply’, i.e. a 
supply of specific deliverable sites sufficient to provide 5 years’ worth of housing 
against a housing requirement (derived from adopted Local Plan policies, or 
from a local housing need figure). 

 
1.2 The NPPF required local planning authorities to “identify and update annually a 

supply of specific deliverable sites sufficient to provide a minimum of five years’ 
worth of housing against their housing requirement”. The Borough Council has 
fulfilled this requirement by producing an ‘Assessment of 5-year Housing Land 
Supply’ at least once per year. These documents have: 
 
a. identified all sites on which new homes are likely to be built over the 

following 5 years, i.e. 
 

i. sites where development has already begun; 
ii. sites with full planning permission; 
iii. sites with outline planning permission; 
iv. sites where there is a resolution to grant planning permission; 
v. sites which are allocated in a Local Plan; and 
vi. sites which are identified in a Brownfield Land Register; 

 
b. compared these numbers to the number of dwellings required; and 

 
c. identified whether or not there are enough sites to meet the needs. 
 

In total, the Borough Council has published thirteen Assessments of 5-year 
Housing Land Supply, all of which have demonstrated that the Council did not 
have a five-year supply of deliverable housing sites.  

 
1.3 If a local planning authority could not demonstrate a five-year land supply, the 

NPPF sets out a presumption in favour of sustainable development, which 
enables the development of alternative sites to meet the policy requirement. 
Members will recall that, over the last few years, many planning applications on 
sites which were not supported by the provisions of the adopted Boston 
Borough Local Plan (April 1999) have been brought to the Committee with a 
recommendation of approval as a consequence of the lack of a five-year supply. 

Page 46



 
The position as at 31st March 2019 
 
2.1 The Appendix to this report sets out an ‘Assessment of 5-year housing land 

supply as at 31st March 2019’, which identifies that: 

 1,840 new dwellings are required to be delivered between 1st April 2019 
and 31st March 2024; 

 deliverable housing sites can be identified which will provide 2,014 new 
homes over that period; 

 Boston Borough can therefore identify 5.5 years’ supply of deliverable 
housing sites as at 31st March 2019. 
  

2.2 This is the first Assessment to arrive at this conclusion, and there are four 
factors behind this change in circumstances, namely: 

 housing development has been relatively buoyant over the last three 
financial years; 

 because there has been no under delivery of housing over the last three 
years, the use of a 5% buffer (rather than the 20% used in previous 
Assessments) is justified; 

 the adoption of the South East Lincolnshire Local Plan 2011-2036 on 8th 
March 2019, which means that: 

o some of the Housing Allocations identified in the Plan can now be 
counted as deliverable; and 

o the Plan identifies that past shortfalls in completions should be 
dealt with over the remaining 17 years of the Plan-period; and 

 many of the planning permissions granted over the last few years when 
the Council could not demonstrate a 5-year supply can be counted as 
being deliverable. 

 
2.3 The Assessment’s findings have important implications for how the Borough 

Council should deal with planning applications for new housing sites. Previously 
(without a five year supply of housing land) the Council’s policies for delivering 
housing were considered to be out-of-date. Thus, instead of planning 
applications being decided based on the provisions of local policies, national 
policies instead took precedence. This meant that, as long as a site could be 
considered as ‘sustainable development’, planning permission should be 
granted even if the Local Plan’s provisions suggested otherwise. With a five 
year supply of housing land, the Borough Council is now at liberty to refuse 
planning permission for housing proposals that do not accord with the 
provisions of the South East Lincolnshire Local Plan 2011-2036.  

 
CONCLUSION 
 
3.1 This Assessment is the first to conclude that the Borough Council can 

demonstrate a five year supply of deliverable housing sites. This has important 
implications for the way the Council should deal with planning applications for 
residential development. 

 
 
 

Page 47



FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
None 

 
 

LEGAL & EQUALITY IMPLICATIONS 
 
None 
 

 
 

ANY OTHER IMPLICATIONS 
 
None 
 

 
CONSULTATION 
 
None 
 

APPENDICES 
 
Boston Borough Council Assessment of 5-year housing land supply as at 31st March 
2019. 
 

 
 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 
 
None 
 

 
 

CHRONOLOGICAL HISTORY OF THIS REPORT 
 

 
A report on this item has not been previously considered by a Council body. 
 

 
 

Page 48



 

 

 

 

 

 

Boston Borough Council 

 

Assessment of 5-year housing land 

supply as at 31
st

 March 2019 

 

  

Page 49



1.0 Background 

 

1.1 Paragraph 73 of the National Planning Policy Framework February 2019 

(NPPF) requires local planning authorities to “identify and update annually a 

supply of specific deliverable sites sufficient to provide a minimum of five 

years’ worth of housing against their housing requirement set out in adopted 

strategic policies, or against their local housing need where the strategic 

policies are more than five years old. The supply of specific deliverable sites 

should in addition include a buffer (moved forward from later in the plan 

period) of: 

a) 5% to ensure choice and competition in the market for land; or 

b) 10% where the local planning authority wishes to demonstrate a five 

year supply of deliverable sites through an annual position statement or 

recently adopted plan, to account for any fluctuations in the market 

during that year; or 

c) 20% where there has been significant under delivery of housing over 

the previous three years, to improve the prospect of achieving the 

planned supply.” 

 

1.2 This report looks at whether there are sufficient deliverable housing sites in 

Boston Borough to meet requirements between 1st April 2019 and 31st March 

2024, taking into account the provisions of the NPPF. 

---------- 

2.0 What are Boston Borough’s 5 year housing requirements? 

2.1 The Planning Practice Guidance (PPG) indicates that “housing requirement 

figures identified in strategic policies should be used as the starting point for 

calculating the 5 year land supply figure for the first 5 years of the plan”. Policy 

10 of the South East Lincolnshire Local Plan 2011-2036 (adopted on 8th 

March 2019) indicates that an additional 7,744 dwellings will be required in 

Boston Borough between 1st April 2011 and 31st March 2036. This equates to 

an average of 310 per year and, over a five-year period, this amounts to 1,550 

homes (310 x 5 = 1,550). 

 

2.2 Table 1 shows that, since the Local Plan period began, the number of new 

homes built has fallen 686 short of the 2,480 dwellings required. Crucially, 

however: 

 the ‘Housing Delivery Test: 2018 measurement’ for Boston Borough is 

109%; and 

 the number of dwellings built in 2016/17, 2017/18, and 2018/19 

exceeds by 245 the 930 required. 

Consequently (and in accordance with the Government policy quoted in 

paragraph 1.1) it is not necessary for a 20% buffer to be applied. Instead, the 

Page 50



Borough Council considers that a 5% buffer is appropriate, and this increases 

the requirement to 1,628 (1,550 x 1.05 = 1,627.5 = 1,628). 

 
Table 1 – Housing completions in Boston Borough (1

st
 April 2011 – 31

st
 March 2019) 

 
Year 

 
Requirement 

 
Gross 

completions 

 
Losses 

 
Net 

completions 

Shortfall/Excess 
(Requirement – 

Net 
completions) 

2011/12 310 98 7 91 -219 

2012/13 310 73 9 64 -246 

2013/14 310 183 8 175 -135 

2014/15 310 120 11 109 -201 

2015/16 310 189 9 180 -130 

2016/17 310 367 15 352 +42 

2017/18 310 402 8 394 +84 

2018/19 310 451 22 429 +119 

TOTAL 2,480 1,883 89 1,794 -686 

 

2.3 Nonetheless, the overall shortfall since 2011/12 still needs to be dealt with, 

and there are two well-established approaches which are known as the 

‘Sedgefield’ and ‘Liverpool’ methods. The ‘Sedgefield’ method seeks to meet 

any shortfall over the following five years, whereas the ‘Liverpool’ method 

spreads it equally over all the remaining years of the plan period. Paragraph 

5.2.6 of the adopted South East Lincolnshire Local Plan 2011-2036 (March 

2019) indicates that the ‘Liverpool’ method will be used because “the 

provisions of the Local Plan are significantly ‘back-loaded’”. Taking account of 

shortfalls since the Local Plan period began using the ‘Liverpool’ method 

gives a requirement of 1,840 dwellings (1,628 + (686 ÷ 17 x 5 x 1.05) = 

1,839.9 = 1,840). 

---------- 
 
 
3.0 What is Boston Borough’s deliverable housing supply? 
 
3.1 Annex 2 to the NPPF identifies that “to be considered deliverable, sites for 

housing should be available now, offer a suitable location for development 
now, and be achievable with a realistic prospect that housing will be delivered 
on the site within five years. In particular: 

a) sites which do not involve major development and have planning 
permission, and all sites with detailed planning permission, should be 
considered deliverable until permission expires, unless there is clear 
evidence that homes will not be delivered within five years (for example 
because they are no longer viable, there is no longer a demand for the 
type of units or sites have long term phasing plans). 

b) where a site has outline planning permission for major development, 
has been allocated in a development plan, has a grant of planning 

Page 51



permission in principle, or is identified on a brownfield register, it should 
only be considered deliverable where there is clear evidence that 
housing completions will begin on site within five years.”  

 
3.2 Boston Borough Council considers that, taking account of the above 

definition, the following types of sites can theoretically contribute to 
deliverable supply: 

a) sites where development has begun; 
b) sites with full planning permission, where development has not yet 

begun; 
c) sites with outline planning permission, which will deliver 9 or fewer 

dwellings (i.e. which are not ‘major development’); 
d) sites with outline planning permission, which will deliver 10 or more 

dwellings (i.e. which are ‘major development’); 
e) sites where there is a resolution to grant planning permission; 
f) sites which are allocated for residential development in the South East 

Lincolnshire Local Plan 2011-2036; and 
g) sites which are identified on a brownfield register. 

 
3.3 Taking account of the NPPF definition, Boston Borough Council considers 

that sites listed in paragraph 3.2 a) to c) should be considered deliverable until 
permission expires, unless there is clear evidence that homes will not be 
delivered within five years. In contrast, sites listed in paragraph 3.2 d) to g) 
should only be considered deliverable where there is clear evidence that 
housing completions will begin on site within five years. 

 
3.4 The Appendix to this report: 

 identifies all the sites that the Borough Council considers could 
potentially contribute to deliverable supply; 

 identifies how many new homes the Borough Council expects each site 
to deliver up to 31st March 2024; and 

 explains the Borough Council’s reasoning. 
 
3.5 The following paragraphs summarise the detailed information set out in the 

Appendix, and provide a discussion of the assumptions made. 
 
3.6 Sites where development has begun – the Appendix identifies 104 such 

sites. These sites can accommodate a total of 1,089 new dwellings. 
 
3.7 However one site is sufficiently large in size that, although it is being actively 

developed, it is doubtful that the entire site will be completed by 31st March 
2024. In this case it is assumed that, over the next five years, development 
will continue at the rate that has been achieved thus far. This reduces the total 
number of dwellings by 188.   

 
3.8 The development of a further twenty-five sites began 3 or more years ago, 

with no recent activity. These circumstances suggest that the sites’ availability 
and/or deliverability may be doubtful. The Borough Council assumes that such 
sites will deliver no new homes by 31st March 2024. This reduces the total 
number of dwellings by a further 97. 

Page 52



 
3.9 Thus, the Appendix identifies that sites where development has begun will 

deliver 804 dwellings up to 31st March 2024 (1,089 – 188 – 97 = 804) 
 
3.10 Sites with full planning permission where development has not yet 

begun - the Appendix identifies 82 such sites. These sites can accommodate 
a total of 1,049 new dwellings. 

 
3.11 However, three of these sites are sufficiently large in size (more than 100 

dwellings) that it may be doubtful that they will be completed by 31st March 
2024. In these cases, it is assumed that: 

 the sites will not begin to deliver dwellings for 12 months; and 

 over the following four years, development will proceed at the rate 
achieved by the developer on other sites, or at the rate achieved on 
other sites in the locality. 

This reduces the total number of dwellings by 81, leaving 968 dwellings  
(1,049 - 81 = 968). 

 
3.12 However, inevitably some of the 82 planning permissions will not be 

implemented and will lapse. The Inspectors who conducted the Examination 
of the South East Lincolnshire Local Plan concluded (in paragraph 78 of their 
report (dated 29th January 2019)) that “a lapse rate should only be applied to 
sites with planning permission that have not commenced (including outline 
permission) and those with a resolution to grant permission. In the absence of 
historical data on such sites, a 10% rate has been applied”. Applying a 10% 
lapse rate to the 968 dwellings, gives a final total of 871                              
(968 x 0.9 = 871.2 = 871). 

 
3.13 Sites with outline planning permission, which will deliver 9 or fewer 

dwellings – the Appendix identifies twenty-four such sites. In total, these sites 
can accommodate 76 new dwellings. 

 
3.14 However, inevitably some of the planning permissions will not be implemented 

and will lapse, and (in order to reflect the Inspectors’ conclusions quoted in 
paragraph 3.12) the Borough Council considers that a 10% lapse rate should 
be applied. Applying a 10% lapse rate to the 76 dwellings, gives a final total of 
68 (76 X 0.9 = 68.4 = 68). 

 
3.15 Sites with outline planning permission, which will deliver 10 or more 

dwellings – the Appendix identifies sixteen such sites. In total, these sites 
can accommodate 782 new dwellings. 

 
3.16 However, for thirteen of these sites there is no clear evidence that housing 

completions will begin within five years. This reduces the total number of 
dwellings by 718, leaving 64 dwellings. 

 
3.17 However, inevitably some of the planning permissions will not be implemented 

and will lapse, and (in order to reflect the Inspectors’ conclusions quoted in 
paragraph 3.12) the Borough Council considers that a 10% lapse rate should 

Page 53



be applied. Applying a 10% lapse rate to the 64 dwellings, gives a final total of 
58 (64 X 0.9 = 57.6 = 58). 

 
3.18 Sites where there is a resolution to grant planning permission – The 

Appendix identifies no such sites. 
 
3.19 Sites which are allocated for residential development in an adopted 

Local Plan (without a planning permission or resolution to grant) – The 
Appendix identifies twenty-eight such sites. These sites can accommodate a 
total of 4,543 new dwellings. 

 
3.20 However, for twenty-five of these sites there is no clear evidence that housing 

completions will begin within five years. This reduces the total number of 
dwellings by 4,227. Furthermore, the housebuilder which owns one site has 
indicated that they do not anticipate completing the site’s development by 31st 
March 2024. This reduces the total number of dwellings by a further 189, 
leaving 127 dwellings. 

 
3.21 The Inspectors who conducted the Examination of the South East Lincolnshire 

Local Plan concluded (in paragraph 78 of their report (dated 29th January 
2019)) that “with respect to lapse rates the submitted evidence suggests that 
there has been very little lapse historically on allocated sites in the Plan area 
and, therefore, a lapse rate should only be applied to sites with planning 
permission …”. Thus, no lapse rate is applied. 

 
3.22 Sites which are identified on a Brownfield Land Register – The Appendix 

identifies seven such sites. In total, these sites can accommodate 306 
dwellings. 

 
3.23 However, for all seven sites there is no clear evidence that housing 

completions will begin within five years. 
 
3.24 Windfall allowance - Paragraph 70 of the NPPF indicates that “where an 

allowance is to be made for windfall sites as part of anticipated supply, there 
should be compelling evidence that they will provide a reliable source of 
supply. Any allowance should be realistic having regard to the strategic 
housing land availability assessment, historic windfall delivery rates and 
expected future trends.” 

 
3.25 The Inspectors who conducted the Examination of the South East Lincolnshire 

Local Plan concluded (in paragraph 79 of their report (dated 29th January 
2019)) that “sites of fewer than 10 dwellings have not been allocated in the 
SELLP, although the evidence suggests that historically such sites have made 
a significant contribution to housing supply (over 20% on average). Although 
some of these sites have been on residential gardens, which national policy 
now discourages, a proportionate windfall contribution is still justified, having 
made an appropriate discount.” 

 
3.26 The Inspectors sought the modification of the Local Plan (Main Modification 

036) to include a windfall allowance of 43 dwellings per annum in Boston 

Page 54



Borough. The windfall allowance was not, however, included in the first three 
years of the Local Plan’s housing trajectory because “it is assumed that over 
the next three years all ‘windfall’ completions will come from the stock of 
commitments.” 

 
3.27 The Borough Council considers that the same approach should be taken in 

this Assessment, and that a windfall allowance should not be applied for 
2019/20, 2020/21 and 2021/22. Thus, windfall sites can be expected to 
contribute a total of 86 dwellings up to 31st March 2024 (43 x 2 = 86). 

 
3.28 Taking account of the revised housing numbers from paragraphs 3.6 to 3.27 

inclusive, table 2 shows the total number of dwellings expected to be 
completed over the coming five years 

 
Table 2 – Deliverable housing supply (as at 31

st
 March 2019) 

Type of site Number of dwellings which are 
expected to be completed 
between 1st April 2019 and 31st 
March 2024 

Sites where development has 
begun 

804 

Sites with full planning 
permission, where development 
has not yet begun 

 
871 

Sites with outline planning 
permission, which will deliver 9 or 
fewer dwellings 

 
68 

Sites with outline planning 
permission, which will deliver 10 
or more dwellings 

 
58 

Sites where there is a resolution 
to grant planning permission 

0 

Sites which are allocated for 
residential development in an 
adopted Local Plan (without a 
planning permission or resolution 
to grant) 

 
 

127 

Sites which are identified on a 
brownfield register 

 
0 

Windfall Allowance 86 

TOTAL  2,014 

 
 
  

Page 55



4.0 Can Boston Borough meet the 5-year housing target? 
 
4.1 Table 3 compares Boston Borough’s housing requirement with its deliverable 

supply. It shows that there are sufficient deliverable housing sites in Boston 

Borough to meet requirements between 1st April 2019 and 31st March 2024. 

 
 
Table 3 – Comparison of the housing requirement and deliverable supply (31

st
 March 2019) 

Requirement 

Five year requirement 1,840 

Supply 

Supply of deliverable housing 
sites 

2,014 

5-year Land Supply Results 

Shortfall/Excess +174 

Supply (years) 5.5 

Supply (%) 109.5% 

 
 

  

Page 56



Appendix – All sites potentially contributing to deliverable supply (31st March 2019) 
 
Address Planning 

application 
reference 

Total 
number 
of 
dwellings 
permitted 

Year 
development 
began 

Number of 
dwellings 
completed 

Remaining 
capacity 
(including 
those under 
construction) 

Number of 
dwellings 
under 
construction 

Number of 
dwellings 
expected 
to be built 
by 31

st
 

March 
2024 

Notes 

Sites where development has begun 

Crossgates 
Farm, Algarkirk 

B/06/0204 1 Prior to 
2010/11 

0 1 1 0 No activity has been recorded in the last 9 years. This hiatus calls into question the site’s 
deliverability. 

Freedom Farm, 
Marsh Road, 
Algarkirk 

 
B/15/0217 

 
1 

 
2018/19 

 
0 

 
1 

 
1 

 
1 

 
There is no evidence to suggest that the dwelling will not be delivered in the next five years. 

Ash Tree Barn, 
Kirton Drove, 
Amber Hill 

 
B/17/0142 

 
1 

 
2018/19 

 
0 

 
1 

 
1 

 
1 

 
There is no evidence to suggest that the dwelling will not be delivered in the next five years. 

Sea End Farm, 
Benington 

B/07/0559 1 2011/12 0 1 1 0 No activity has been recorded in the last 7 years. This hiatus calls into question the site’s 
deliverability. 

Adj. to Barwell 
Lodge, Sea End 
Road, 
Benington 

 
B/11/0209 

 
1 

 
2014/15 

 
0 

 
1 

 
1 

 
0 

 
No activity has been recorded in the last 4 years. This hiatus calls into question the site’s 
deliverability. 

Glebe Farm, 
Spicers Lane, 
Benington 

 
B/17/0346 

 
1 

 
2018/19 

 
0 

 
1 

 
1 

 
1 

 
There is no evidence to suggest that the dwelling will not be delivered in the next five years. 

Benington Farm 
Barn, Crowhall 
Lane, Benington 

 
B/18/0064 

 
1 

 
2018/19 

 
0 

 
1 

 
1 

 
1 

 
There is no evidence to suggest that the dwelling will not be delivered in the next five years. 

The Farmhouse, 
Fendike Lane, 
Bicker 

 
B/15/0187 

 
1 

 
2018/19 

 
0 

 
1 

 
1 

 
1 

 
There is no evidence to suggest that the dwelling will not be delivered in the next five years. 

138-142 High 
Street, Boston 

 
B/03/0358 

 
17 

Prior to 
2010/11 

9 
(all prior to 
2010/11) 

 
8 

 
0 

 
0 

No activity has been recorded in the last 9 years. This hiatus calls into question the site’s 
deliverability. 

 
Alfred Street, 
Boston 

 
B/08/0077 

 
7 

 
Prior to 
2010/11 

6 
(3 in 2010/11 
2 in 2017/18 
1 in 2018/19) 

 
1 

 
1 

 
1 

 
There is no evidence to suggest that the remaining dwelling will not be delivered in the next five 
years. 

The Cottage, 
Tattershall 
Road, Boston 

 
B/10/0100 

 
1 

 
2010/11 

 
0 

 
1 

 
1 

 
0 

Although the dwelling appears largely complete, no activity has been recorded in the last 8 
years. This hiatus calls into question the site’s deliverability. 

18 Spain Place, 
Boston 

B/11/0119 2 2014/15 0 2 1 0 No activity has been recorded in the last 4 years. This hiatus calls into question the site’s 
deliverability. 

49 Norfolk 
Street, Boston 

 
B/11/0385 

 
6 

 
2014/15 

 
0 

 
6 

 
3 

 
0 

Although there is earth moving equipment on-site, no activity has been recorded in the last 4 
years. This hiatus calls into question the site’s deliverability. 

Rear of 146 
Woodville Road, 
Boston 

 
B/16/0293 

 
1 

 
2016/17 

 
0 

 
1 

 
1 

 
1 

The dwelling is advanced and the site is active. There is no evidence to suggest that the dwelling 
will not be delivered in the next five years. 

44-60 Park 
Road, Boston 

B/12/0136 2 2014/15 1 
(2017/18) 

1 1 1 There is no evidence to suggest that the remaining dwelling will not be delivered in the next five 
years. 

Roseberry 
Meadows 
extension, 
Boston 

 
B/16/0372 

 
106 

 
2016/17 

78 
(5 in 2016/17 
37 in 17/18 
36 in 18/19) 

 
28 

 
28 

 
28 

 
There is no evidence to suggest that the remaining dwellings will not be delivered in the next five 
years. 

148 London 
Road, Boston 

B/13/0312 3 2014/15 0 3 0 0 No activity has been recorded in the last 4 years. This hiatus calls into question the site’s 
deliverability. 

  

P
age 57



Address Planning 
application 
reference 

Total 
number 
of 
dwellings 
permitted 

Year 
development 
began 

Number of 
dwellings 
completed 

Remaining 
capacity 
(including 
those under 
construction) 

Number of 
dwellings 
under 
construction 

Number of 
dwellings 
expected 
to be built 
by 31

st
 

March 
2024 

Notes 

Sites where development has begun (continued) 

Adj. to 18 Glen 
Drive, Boston 

B/13/0353 1 2015/16 0 1 1 1 The site is active and completion appears imminent. There is no evidence to suggest that the 
dwelling will not be delivered in the next five years. 

 
42 Punchbowl 
Lane, Boston 

 
B/11/0150 

 
4 

 
2012/13 

2 
(1 in 2012/13 
1 in 2013/14) 

 

 
2 

 
0 

 
0 

 
No activity has been recorded since the last completion in 2013/14. This hiatus calls into 
question the deliverability of the remaining 2 dwellings. 

Off Nelson Way, 
Boston 

B/15/0043 1 2018/19 0 1 1 1 There is no evidence to suggest that the dwelling will not be delivered in the next five years. 

Rear of 93 West 
Street, Boston 

B/18/0126 2 2018/19 0 2 2 2 There is no evidence to suggest that these dwellings will not be delivered in the next five years. 

7 Fydell 
Crescent, 
Boston 

 
B/15/0216 

 
2 

 
2016/17 

1 
(2018/19) 

 
1 

 
1 

 
1 

The dwelling appears nearly complete and the site is active. There is no evidence to suggest that 
the remaining dwelling will not be delivered in the next five years. 

Former 
DeMontfort 
Campus, Mill 
Road, Boston 

 
B/15/0100 

 
108 

 
2016/17 

85 
(7 in 2016/17 
42 in 17/18 
36 in 18/19) 

 
23 

 
13 

 
23 

 
There is no evidence to suggest that the remaining dwellings will not be delivered in the next five 
years. 

The Woadman, 
Church Road, 
Boston 

 
B/15/0515 

 
9 

 
2018/19 

 
0 

 
9 

 
9 

 
9 

 
There is no evidence to suggest that these dwellings will not be delivered in the next five years. 

Rear of 27-29 
Wide Bargate, 
Boston 

 
B/13/0148 

 
9 

 
2015/16 

 

 
0 

 
9 

 
9 

 
9 

The development appears largely complete, and the flats are being advertised for sale. There is 
no evidence to suggest that these dwellings will not be delivered in the next five years.  

Rear of 72 
Granville Street, 
Boston 

 
B/16/0260 
 

 
1 

 
2016/17 

 
0 

 
1 

 
1 

 
1 

 
There is no evidence to suggest that the dwelling will not be delivered in the next five years. 

37 West Street, 
Boston 

B/16/0318 1 2018/19 0 1 1 1 There is no evidence to suggest that the dwelling will not be delivered in the next five years. 

5-7 Witham 
Bank East, 
Boston 

 
B/16/0282 

 
23 

 
2017/18 

 
0 

 
23 

 
0 

 
23 

 
There is no evidence to suggest that the dwellings will not be delivered in the next five years. 

Exchange 
Buildings, 
Market Place, 
Boston 

 
B/16/0382 

 
8 

 
2018/19 

 
4 

(all in 
2018/19) 

 
4 

 
4 

 
4 

 
There is no evidence to suggest that the remaining dwellings will not be delivered in the next five 
years. 

Off St Thomas 
Drive, Boston 

 
B/15/0196 

 
26 

 
2017/18 

24 
(4 in 2017/18 
20 in 18/19) 

 
2 

 
2 

 
2 

There is no evidence to suggest that the remaining dwellings will not be delivered in the next five 
years. 

180 Freiston 
Road, Boston 

B/17/0471 1 2018/19 0 1 1 1 There is no evidence to suggest that the dwelling will not be delivered in the next five years. 

Off Somerset 
Court, Boston 

B/17/0111 1 2017/18 0 1 1 1 There is no evidence to suggest that the dwelling will not be delivered in the next five years. 

Rear of 143 
Norfolk Street, 
Boston 

 
B/17/0126 

 
1 

 
2018/19 

 
0 

 
1 

 
1 

 
1 

 
There is no evidence to suggest that the dwelling will not be delivered in the next five years. 

7 Muster Roll 
Lane, Boston 

B/17/0115 1 2017/18 0 1 1 1 There is no evidence to suggest that the dwelling will not be delivered in the next five years. 

North of Puritan 
Way, Boston 

B/18/0395 79 2018/19 0 79 22 79 There is no evidence to suggest that the dwellings will not be delivered in the next five years. 
[N.B. Part of Housing Allocation Fen006 in the South East Lincolnshire Local Plan 2011-2036.] 

23 Haven Bank, 
Boston 

B/18/0170 4 2018/19 0 4 4 4 There is no evidence to suggest that the dwellings will not be delivered in the next five years. 

P
age 58



Address Planning 
application 
reference 

Total 
number 
of 
dwellings 
permitted 

Year 
development 
began 

Number of 
dwellings 
completed 

Remaining 
capacity 
(including 
those under 
construction) 

Number of 
dwellings 
under 
construction 

Number of 
dwellings 
expected 
to be built 
by 31

st
 

March 
2024 

Notes 

Sites where development has begun (continued) 

18 Spain Place, 
Boston 

B/11/0119 2 2014/15 0 2 2 0 No activity has been recorded in the last 4 years. This hiatus calls into question the site’s 
deliverability. 

Broadfield Lane, 
Boston 

B/13/0037 
B/17/0519 
B/18/0429 

 
182 

 
2015/16 

123 
(all in 

2016/17) 

 
59 

 
0 

 
59 

 
There is no evidence to suggest that the remaining dwellings will not be delivered in the next five 
years. 

110 Robin 
Hoods Walk, 
Boston 

 
B/18/0440 

 
4 

 
2018/19 

 
0 

 
4 

 
4 

 
4 

 
There is no evidence to suggest that these dwellings will not be delivered in the next five years. 

Sibsey Road/ 
Wainfleet Road, 
Boston 

 
B/16/0141 

 
66 

 
2018/19 

 
0 

 
66 

 
21 

 
66 

 
There is no evidence to suggest that these dwellings will not be delivered in the next five years. 

 
Adj. to 155 
Swineshead 
Road, Boston 

 
 
B/07/0282 

 
 
8 

 
 

2011/12 

6 
(2 in 2011/12 
1 in 2012/13 
1 in 2014/15 
1 in 2016/17 
1 in 2018/19) 

 
 
2 

 
 
1 

 
 
2 

 
 
There is no evidence to suggest that the remaining dwellings will not be delivered in the next five 
years. 

Winfield, Fen 
Road, Boston 

 
B/15/0128 

 
9 

 
2017/18 

6 
(all in 

2018/19) 

 
3 

 
3 

 
3 

 
There is no evidence to suggest that the remaining dwellings will not be delivered in the next five 
years. 

Winfield, Fen 
Road, Boston 

B/16/0262 2 2017/18 0 2 2 2 There is no evidence to suggest that the dwellings will not be delivered in the next five years. 

63 Causeway, 
Boston 

B/11/0251 1 2014/15 0 1 1 0 No activity has been recorded in the last 4 years. This hiatus calls into question the site’s 
deliverability. 

Between A16 & 
London Road, 
Boston 

B/14/0165 
B/15/0264 

 
502 

 
2017/18 

 

89 
(34 in 17/18 
55 in 18/19) 

 
413 

 
34 

 
225 

There is no evidence to suggest that the site’s development will not continue at the pace 
achieved over the last 2 years (45 p.a.). 45 x 5 = 225. 

The Bungalow, 
Wortleys Lane, 
Boston 

 
B/17/0236 

 
2 

 
2018/19 

 
0 

 
2 

 
2 

 
2 

 
There is no evidence to suggest that these dwellings will not be delivered in the next five years. 

14 Mill Lane, 
Butterwick 

B/05/0341 1 Prior to 
2010/11 

0 1 1 0 No activity has been recorded in the last 9 years. This hiatus calls into question the site’s 
deliverability. 

Girls School 
Lane, 
Butterwick 

 
B/18/0430 

 
7 

 
2018/19 

 
0 

 
7 

 
0 

 
7 

 
There is no evidence to suggest that these dwellings will not be delivered in the next five years. 

Brand End 
Road, 
Butterwick 

 
B/18/0261 

 
2 

 
2018/19 

 
0 

 
2 

 
2 

 
2 

 
There is no evidence to suggest that the dwellings will not be delivered in the next five years. 

Girls School 
Lane, 
Butterwick 

 
B/18/0431 

 
9 

 
2018/19 

 
0 

 
9 

 
0 

 
9 

 
There is no evidence to suggest that the dwellings will not be delivered in the next five years. 

Vere, Wythes 
Lane, Fishtoft 

B/14/0422 1 2015/16 0 1 1 1 The site is active and completion appears imminent. There is no evidence to suggest that the 
dwelling will not be delivered in the next five years. 

Laurel Farm, 
Pinfold Lane, 
Fishtoft 

 
B/15/0135 

 
1 

 
2016/17 

 
0 

 
1 

 
1 

 
1 

The dwelling is advanced, and the site is active. There is no evidence to suggest that the 
dwelling will not be delivered in the next five years. 

Rose Cottage, 
Frith Bank, 
Fishtoft 

 
B/17/0437 

 
1 

 
2017/18 

 
0 

 
1 

 
1 

 
1 

 
There is no evidence to suggest that the dwelling will not be delivered in the next five years. 

 

P
age 59



 

Address Planning 
application 
reference 

Total 
number 
of 
dwellings 
permitted 

Year 
development 
began 

Number of 
dwellings 
completed 

Remaining 
capacity 
(including 
those under 
construction) 

Number of 
dwellings 
under 
construction 

Number of 
dwellings 
expected 
to be built 
by 31

st
 

March 
2024 

Notes 

Sites where development has begun (continued) 

Coastguard 
Row, Moulton 
Washway, 
Fosdyke 

 
B/09/0150 

 
1 

 
Prior to 
2010/11 

 
0 

 
1 

 
1 

 
1 

 
The site is active and completion appears imminent. There is no evidence to suggest that the 
dwelling will not be delivered in the next five years. 

The Cottage, 
Bankhouse 
Farm, Freiston 

 
B/16/0237 

 
1 

 
2016/17 

 
0 

 
1 

 
1 

 
1 

Development is advanced, and there is no evidence to suggest that the dwelling will not be 
delivered in the next five years. 

Church Road, 
Freiston 

 
B/16/0065 

 
4 

 
2017/18 

3 
(all in 

2018/19) 

 
1 

 
1 

 
1 

 
There is no evidence to suggest that the remaining dwelling will not be delivered in the next five 
years. 

Hillcrest, Church 
Road, Freiston 

B/15/0428 1 2018/19 0 1 1 1 There is no evidence to suggest that the dwelling will not be delivered in the next five years. 

Adj. to Park 
Lane, Freiston 

 
B/17/0267 

 
4 

 
2017/18 

1 
(2018/19) 

 
3 

 
3 

 
3 

 
There is no evidence to suggest that the remaining dwellings will not be delivered in the next five 
years. 

Park Lane, 
Freiston 

B/17/0445 1 2018/19 0 1 1 1 There is no evidence to suggest that the dwelling will not be delivered in the next five years. 

Plot 5 Church 
Road, Freiston 

B/18/0247 1 2018/19 0 1 1 1 There is no evidence to suggest that the dwelling will not be delivered in the next five years. 

Holland House 
Farm, Kirton 
Drove, Kirton 
Fen 

 
B/15/0417 

 
1 

 
2018/19 

 
0 

 
1 

 
1 

 
1 

 
There is no evidence to suggest that the dwelling will not be delivered in the next five years. 

Kirton House, 
Kirton 

B/07/0414 19 Prior to 
2010/11 

0 19 0 0 No activity has been recorded in the last 9 years. This hiatus calls into question the site’s 
deliverability. 

 
West of Boston 
Road, Kirton 

 
B/15/0266 
B/17/0171 

 
180 

 
2016/17 

136 
(18 in 16/17 
57 in 17/18 
61 in 18/19) 

 
44 

 
44 

 
44 

 
There is no evidence to suggest that the remaining dwellings will not be delivered in the next five 
years. 

London Road/ 
Drainside, 
Kirton 

 
B/16/0457 

 
26 

 
2018/19 

 
0 

 
26 

 
0 

 
26 

 
There is no evidence to suggest that the dwellings will not be delivered in the next five years. 

Between 
Bungley Lane & 
West End Road, 
Kirton 

 
B/17/0030 
B/17/0242 

 
9 

 
2017/18 

 
0 

 
9 

 
7 

 
9 

 
There is no evidence to suggest that the dwellings will not be delivered in the next five years. 

Adj. to 21 
Horseshoe 
Lane, Kirton 

 
B/16/0499 

 
8 

 
2018/19 

2 
(2018/19) 

 
6 

 
6 

 
6 

 
There is no evidence to suggest that the dwellings will not be delivered in the next five years. 

Adj. to Orchard 
House, Kirton 

B/08/0289 1 2012/13 0 1 1 0 No activity has been recorded in the last 6 years. This hiatus calls into question the site’s 
deliverability. 

Adj. to 
Watersmeade, 
Beck Bank, 
Kirton Holme 

 
B/16/0243 

 
1 

 
2016/17 

 
0 

 
1 

 
1 

 
1 

 
The dwelling is advanced, and the site is active. There is no evidence to suggest that the 
dwelling will not be delivered in the next five years. 

Adj. to 
Watersmeade, 
Beck Bank, 
Kirton Holme 

 
B/18/0417 

 
1 

 
2018/19 

 
0 

 
1 

 
1 

 
1 

 
There is no evidence to suggest that the dwelling will not be delivered in the next five years. 

P
age 60



Address Planning 
application 
reference 

Total 
number 
of 
dwellings 
permitted 

Year 
development 
began 

Number of 
dwellings 
completed 

Remaining 
capacity 
(including 
those under 
construction) 

Number of 
dwellings 
under 
construction 

Number of 
dwellings 
expected 
to be built 
by 31

st
 

March 
2024 

Notes 

Sites where development has begun (continued) 

Plot 2, Main 
Road, Leverton 

 
B/01/0170 

 
1 

Prior to 
2010/11 

 
0 

 
1 

 
1 

 
0 

Although signs are displayed for architect and builder, no activity has been recorded in the last 9 
years. This hiatus calls into question the site’s deliverability. 

The Wooden 
Bungalow, 
Leverton 

 
B/13/0278 

 
1 

 
2016/17 

 
0 

 
1 

 
1 

 
1 

The dwelling is advanced, and the site is active. There is no evidence to suggest that the 
dwelling will not be delivered in the next five years. 

51 Church 
Road, Old 
Leake 

 
B/06/0333 

 
4 

 
Prior to 
2010/11 

 
0 

 
4 

 
2 

 
0 

 
No activity has been recorded in the last 9 years. This hiatus calls into question the site’s 
deliverability. 

The Snug, Sea 
Dyke Lane, Old 
Leake 

 
B/08/0002 

 
1 

 
Prior to 
2010/11 

 
0 

 
1 

 
1 

 
0 

 
No activity has been recorded in the last 9 years. This hiatus calls into question the site’s 
deliverability. 

Adj. to The 
Laurels, Main 
Road, Old 
Leake 

 
B/11/0509 

 
1 

 
2012/13 

 
0 

 
1 

 
1 

 
0 

 
No activity has been recorded in the last 6 years. This hiatus calls into question the site’s 
deliverability. 

The Chapel, 
Chapel Road, 
Old Leake 

 
B/14/0211 

 
4 

 
2018/19 

 
0 

 
4 

 
4 

 
4 

 
There is no evidence to suggests that these dwellings will not be delivered in the next five years. 

The Stables, 
Midgate Lane 
East, Old Leake 

 
B/14/0303 

 
1 

 
2016/17 

 
0 

 
1 

 
1 

 
1 

 
The dwelling is advanced, and there is no evidence to suggest that the dwelling will not be 
delivered in the next five years. 

The Old Chapel, 
Spalding Road, 
Sutterton 

 
B/14/0431 

 
1 

 
2013/14 

 
0 

 
1 

 
1 

 
1 

 
The site is active and completion appears imminent. There is no evidence to suggest that the 
dwelling will not be delivered in the next five years. 

Willow Farm, 
Waterbelly 
Lane, Sutterton 

 
B/15/0471 

 
1 

 
2016/17 

 
0 

 
1 

 
1 

 
1 

The development is advanced, and there is no evidence to suggest that the dwelling will not be 
delivered in the next five years. 

Sutterton 
Caravan & 
Camping, Post 
Office Lane, 
Sutterton 

 
 
B/15/0498 

 
 
3 

 
 

2018/19 

 
 

0 

 
 
3 

 
 
3 

 
 
3 

 
 
There is no evidence to suggest that these dwellings will not be delivered in the next five years. 

Malc Firth 
Nurseries Ltd., 
Blows Lane, 
Sutterton 

 
B/17/0258 

 
4 

 
2017/18 

 
0 

 
4 

 
4 

 
4 

 
There is no evidence to suggest that the dwellings will not be delivered in the next five years. 

Rear of Denen 
Cottage, South 
Street, 
Swineshead 

 
B/05/0230 

 
1 

 
Prior to 
2010/11 

 
0 

 
1 

 
1 

 
0 

 
No activity has been recorded in the last 9 years. This hiatus calls into question the site’s 
deliverability. 

Old Station 
Yard, 
Swineshead 
Bridge 

 
B/08/0156 

 
35 

 
Prior to 
2010/11 

 
0 

 
35 

 
0 

 
0 

 
No activity has been recorded in the last 9 years. This hiatus calls into question the site’s 
deliverability. 

Adj. to 65 Abbey 
Road, 
Swineshead 

 
B/13/0101 

 
1 

 
2015/16 

 
0 

 
1 

 
1 

 
0 

 
No activity has been recorded in the last 3 years. This hiatus calls into question the site’s 
deliverability. 

  

P
age 61



Address Planning 
application 
reference 

Total 
number 
of 
dwellings 
permitted 

Year 
development 
began 

Number of 
dwellings 
completed 

Remaining 
capacity 
(including 
those under 
construction) 

Number of 
dwellings 
under 
construction 

Number of 
dwellings 
expected 
to be built 
by 31

st
 

March 
2024 

Notes 

Sites where development has begun (continued) 

Golden Cross 
Inn, North End, 
Swineshead 

 
B/15/0499 

 
4 

 
2018/19 

 
0 

 
4 

 
4 

 
4 

 
There is no evidence to suggest that the dwellings will not be delivered in the next five years. 

Former Youth 
Club site, North 
End, 
Swineshead 

 
B/17/0125 

 
8 

 
2017/18 

 
0 

 
8 

 
7 

 
8 

 
There is no evidence to suggest that the dwellings will not be delivered in the next five years. 

Adj. to The 
Chestnuts, 
South Street, 
Swineshead 

 
B/15/0111 

 
1 

 
2018/19 

 
0 

 
1 

 
1 

 
1 

 
There is no evidence to suggest that the dwelling will not be delivered in the next five years. 

Drayton 
Cottage, 
Drayton, 
Swineshead 

 
B/15/0035 

 
1 

 
2016/17 

 
0 

 
1 

 
1 

 
1 

Development is advanced, and there is no evidence to suggest that the dwelling will not be 
delivered in the next five years. 

Rear of The 
Elephant & 
Castle, South 
Street, 
Swineshead 

 
 
B/16/0192 

 
 
2 

 
 

2017/18 

 
 

0 

 
 
2 

 
 
2 

 
 
2 

 
 
There is no evidence to suggest that the dwellings will not be delivered in the next five years. 

Pippin Hall 
Cottage, 
Blackjack Road, 
Swineshead 

 
B/16/0196 

 
1 

 
2017/18 

 
0 

 
1 

 
1 

 
1 

 
There is no evidence to suggest that the dwelling will not be delivered in the next five years. 

Off Station 
Road, 
Swineshead 

 
B/16/0052 

 
61 

 
2016/17 

56 
(18 in 17/18 
38 in 18/19) 

 
5 

 
4 

 
5 

 
There is no evidence to suggest that the remaining dwellings will not be delivered in the next five 
years. 

Adj. to 
Glenhirst, 
Station Road, 
Swineshead 

 
B/18/0115 

 
1 

 
2018/19 

 
0 

 
1 

 
1 

 
1 

 
There is no evidence to suggest that the dwelling will not be delivered in the next five years. 

South of Church 
Lane, 
Swineshead 

 
B/18/0053 

 
1 

 
2017/18 

 
0 

 
1 

 
1 

 
1 

 
There is no evidence to suggest that the dwelling will not be delivered in the next five years. 

Pig & Whistle, 
Market Place, 
Swineshead 

 
B/17/0092 

 
3 

 
2017/18 

 
0 

 
3 

 
3 

 
3 

 
There is no evidence to suggest that the dwellings will not be delivered in the next five years. 

Adj. to 34 King 
Johns Road, 
Swineshead 

 
B/17/0022 

 
1 

 
2017/18 

 
0 

 
1 

 
1 

 
1 

 
There is no evidence to suggest that the dwelling will not be delivered in the next five years. 

North & west of 
Coles Lane, 
Swineshead 

 
B/17/0404 

 
74 

 
2018/19 

 
0 

 
74 

 
16 

 
74 

 
There is no evidence to suggest that the dwellings will not be delivered in the next five years. 

Off Station 
Road, 
Swineshead 

 
B/17/0457 

 
8 

 
2018/19 

 

 
6 

(2018/19) 

 
2 

 
2 

 
2 

 
There is no evidence to suggest that the remaining dwellings will not be delivered in the next five 
years. 

  

P
age 62



Address Planning 
application 
reference 

Total 
number 
of 
dwellings 
permitted 

Year 
development 
began 

Number of 
dwellings 
completed 

Remaining 
capacity 
(including 
those under 
construction) 

Number of 
dwellings 
under 
construction 

Number of 
dwellings 
expected 
to be built 
by 31

st
 

March 
2024 

Notes 

Sites where development has begun (continued) 

Greylands 
Cottage, Wigtoft 
Bank, Wigtoft 

 
B/17/0237 

 
1 

 
2018/19 

 
0 

 
1 

 
1 

 
1 

 
There is no evidence to suggest that the dwelling will not be delivered in the next five years. 

Angel Inn, 
Church End, 
Wrangle 

 
B/06/0151 

 
1 

 
Prior to 
2010/11 

 
0 

 
1 

 
1 

 
0 

 
No activity has been recorded in the last 9 years. This hiatus calls into question the site’s 
deliverability. 

Oakleigh, Main 
Road, Wrangle 

B/07/00394 1 2011/12 0 1 1 1 The site is active, and there is no evidence to suggest that the dwelling will not be delivered in 
the next five years. 

The Old School, 
Main Road, 
Wrangle 

 
B/09/0095 

 
1 

 
2012/13 

 
0 

 
1 

 
1 

 
0 

 
No activity has been recorded in the last 6 years. This hiatus calls into question the site’s 
deliverability. 

The Piggery, 
Lade Bank, 
Wrangle 

 
B/11/0058 

 
1 

 
2013/14 

 
0 

 
1 

 
1 

 
0 

 
No activity has been recorded in the last 5 years. This hiatus calls into question the site’s 
deliverability. 

Darkenwold, 
Broadgate, 
Wrangle 

 
B/13/0046 

 
1 

 
2014/15 

 
0 

 
1 

 
1 

 
0 

 
No activity has been recorded in the last 4 years. This hiatus calls into question the site’s 
deliverability. 

Acacia Farm, 
Wrangle Bank, 
Wrangle 

 
B/16/0030 

 
2 

 
2018/19 

 
1 

 
1 

 
0 

 
1 

There is no evidence to suggest that the remaining dwelling will not be delivered in the next five 
years. 

66 Tytton Lane 
West, Wyberton 

B/16/0460 1 2018/19 0 1 1 1 There is no evidence to suggest that the dwelling will not be delivered in the next five years. 

Total from sites where 
development has begun 

1,728 n/a 639 1,089 337 804 n/a 

 

  

P
age 63



Address Planning 
application 
reference 

Total  
capacity 

Number of 
dwellings 
expected to be 
built by 31

st
 

March 2024 

Notes 

Sites with full planning permission, where development has not yet begun 

West of Pitcher Row Lane, Algarkirk B/18/0351 1 1 There is no evidence to suggest that the dwelling will not be delivered in the next five years. 

Barn at Dovecote Farm, Sutterton Drove, 
Amber Hill 

B/16/0211 1 1 There is no evidence to suggest that the dwelling will not be delivered in the next five years. 

Mantons Barn, Maryland Bank, Amber Hill B/16/0204 1 1 There is no evidence to suggest that the dwelling will not be delivered in the next five years. 

Dovecote Farm, Sutterton Drove, Amber Hill B/18/0112 2 2 There is no evidence to suggest that the dwellings will not be delivered in the next five years. 

Admiral Nelson, Main Road, Benington B/16/0163 1 1 There is no evidence to suggest that the dwelling will not be delivered in the next five years. 

Adj. to Ye Olde Red Lion PH, Donington 
Road, Bicker 

B/18/0144 2 2 There is no evidence to suggest that the dwellings will not be delivered in the next five years. 

10 South End, Boston B/17/0084 2 2 There is no evidence to suggest that the dwellings will not be delivered in the next five years. 

20 Spayne Road, Boston B/16/0094 1 1 There is no evidence to suggest that the dwelling will not be delivered in the next five years. 

Off Punchbowl Lane, Boston B/16/0315 99 99 The site is in the hands of a housebuilder (Larkfleet Homes). There is no evidence to suggest that the dwellings will 
not be delivered in the next five years. 

Off Chain Bridge Road, Boston B/16/0105 1 1 There is no evidence to suggest that the dwelling will not be delivered in the next five years. 

31 Wide Bargate, Boston B/16/0048 3 3 There is no evidence to suggest that the dwellings will not be delivered in the next five years. 

The Garages, Hilda Street, Boston B/16/0109 1 1 There is no evidence to suggest that the dwelling will not be delivered in the next five years. 

North of Broadfield Lane, Boston B/16/0171 8 8 There is no evidence to suggest that the dwellings will not be delivered in the next five years. 

2A Albert Street, Boston B/16/0376 1 1 There is no evidence to suggest that the dwelling will not be delivered in the next five years. 

New Castle Inn, 36 Fydell Street, Boston B/16/0424 9 9 There is no evidence to suggest that the dwellings will not be delivered in the next five years. 

49-53 London Road, Boston B/16/0500 2 2 There is no evidence to suggest that the dwellings will not be delivered in the next five years. 

East of 5, 6 & 7 Hessle Court, Boston B/17/0031 1 1 There is no evidence to suggest that the dwelling will not be delivered in the next five years. 

Rear of 148 Spilsby Road, Boston B/17/0054 1 1 There is no evidence to suggest that the dwelling will not be delivered in the next five years. 

110-112 West Street, Boston B/17/0104 4 4 There is no evidence to suggest that the dwellings will not be delivered in the next five years. 

Malones Function Room, John Adams Way, 
Boston 

B/17/0312 4 4 There is no evidence to suggest that the dwellings will not be delivered in the next five years. 

Robin Hoods Walk, Boston B/17/0041 5 5 There is no evidence to suggest that the dwellings will not be delivered in the next five years. 

The Conway School, Tunnard Street, Boston B/16/0169 6 6 There is no evidence to suggest that the dwellings will not be delivered in the next five years. 

17 Witham Street, Boston B/17/0484 1 1 There is no evidence to suggest that the dwelling will not be delivered in the next five years. 

Irby House, Irby Place, Boston B/17/0512 1 1 There is no evidence to suggest that the dwelling will not be delivered in the next five years. 

80 Sleaford Road, Boston B/17/0517 1 1 There is no evidence to suggest that the dwelling will not be delivered in the next five years. 

35 Horncastle Road, Boston B/18/0030 2 2 There is no evidence to suggest that the dwellings will not be delivered in the next five years. 

Crown House, Lincoln Lane, Boston B/18/0042 16 16 The site is in the hands of a developer (Telereal Trillium). There is no evidence to suggest that the dwellings will not 
be delivered in the next five years. 

146 High Street, Boston B/17/0412 8 8 There is no evidence to suggest that the dwellings will not be delivered in the next five years. 

The Bungalow, Carmel Green, Boston B/17/0494 8 8 There is no evidence to suggest that the dwellings will not be delivered in the next five years. 

35 Horncastle Road, Boston B/18/0089 1 1 There is no evidence to suggest that the dwelling will not be delivered in the next five years. 

12 Strait Bargate & 2 New Street, Boston B/18/0032 5 5 There is no evidence to suggest that the dwellings will not be delivered in the next five years. 

 
Haven Wharf, High Street, Boston 

 
B/17/0121 

 
61 

 
61 

The site is in the hands of a developer (Hanseatic Developments).  There is no evidence to suggest that the 
dwellings will not be delivered in the next five years. [N.B. This site is Housing Allocation Cen001 in the South East 
Lincolnshire Local Plan 2011-2036.] 

140-142 West Street, Boston B/18/0110 3 3 There is no evidence to suggest that the dwellings will not be delivered in the next five years. 

25A Haven Bank, Boston B/18/0169 2 2 There is no evidence to suggest that the dwellings will not be delivered in the next five years. 

Rear of 51 Sydney Street, Boston B/18/0172 1 1 There is no evidence to suggest that the dwelling will not be delivered in the next five years. 

24 Wide Bargate, Boston B/18/0318 5 5 There is no evidence to suggest that the dwellings will not be delivered in the next five years. 

Wide Bargate/Red Lion Street, Boston B/18/0060 15 15 There is no evidence to suggest that the dwellings will not be delivered in the next five years. 

43-44 Market Place, Boston B/18/0349 2 2 There is no evidence to suggest that the dwellings will not be delivered in the next five years. 

Rear of Fydell Street, Boston B/17/0098 3 3 There is no evidence to suggest that the dwellings will not be delivered in the next five years. 

29 Market Place, Boston B/18/0373 2 2 There is no evidence to suggest that the dwellings will not be delivered in the next five years. 

Adj. to railway line, Tattershall Road, Boston B/18/0520 1 1 There is no evidence to suggest that the dwelling will not be delivered in the next five years. 

16 Market Place, Boston B/18/0474 6 6 There is no evidence to suggest that these dwellings will not be delivered in the next five years. 

114 High Street, Boston B/18/0524 4 4 There is no evidence to suggest that these dwellings will not be delivered in the next five years. 

West of 38 Brand End Road, Butterwick B/16/0197 1 1 There is no evidence to suggest that the dwelling will not be delivered in the next five years. 

Fresh Fields, Long Hedges, Fishtoft B/18/0245 1 1 There is no evidence to suggest that the dwelling will not be delivered in the next five years. 

P
age 64



Address Planning 
application 
reference 

Total  
capacity 

Number of 
dwellings 
expected to be 
built by 31

st
 

March 2024 

Notes 

Sites with full planning permission, where development has not yet begun (continued) 

 
 
 
East of Lindis Road, Boston 

 
 
 
B/18/0405 

 
 
 

178 

 
 
 

112 

The site is in the hands of a housebuilder (Cyden Homes), and there is no evidence to suggest that housing will not 
be delivered on the site in the next five years. However, it may be doubtful that all 178 dwellings will be completed 
by 31

st
 March 2024. Cyden Homes have indicated that they intend to commence development in Summer 2019, 

with the first homes competed in Spring 2020. At its site at Former DeMontfort Campus, Mill Road, Boston 
(B/15/0100) Cyden Homes has completed an average of 28 dwellings per annum over the last 3 years, and there is 
no evidence to suggest that the rate of completions on their Lindis Road site will be any different. It is therefore 
assumed that, throughout 2020/21 to 2023/24, this site will deliver 28 dwellings per annum (28 x 4 = 112). [N.B. This 
site is Housing Allocation Fis001 in the South East Lincolnshire Local Plan 2011-2036.] 

East of Toot Lane, Boston B/15/0280 79 79 The site is understood to be in the hands of a housebuilder (Lealand Homes), and site investigations have been 
carried out. There is no evidence to suggest that the dwellings will not be delivered in the next five years 

29 Old Main Road, Fosdyke B/18/0020 1 1 There is no evidence to suggest that the dwelling will not be delivered in the next five years. 

 
 
 
North of Middlegate Road (West), Kirton 

 
 
 
B/18/0039 

 
 
 

195 

 
 
 

180 

The site is in the hands of a housebuilder (Larkfleet Homes), and there is no evidence to suggest that housing will 
not be delivered on the site in the next five years. However, it may be doubtful that all 195 dwellings will be 
completed by 31

st
 March 2024. In the absence of specific information on Larkfleet Homes’ development programme 

for this site, it is assumed that no dwellings will be delivered during 2019/20. The nearby housing site to the west of 
Boston Road, Kirton (B/15/0266 and B/17/0171) has delivered an average of 45 dwellings per annum over the last 3 
years, and there is no evidence to suggest that the rate of completions on this Middlegate Road (West) site will be 
any different. It is therefore assumed that, throughout 2020/21 to 2023/24, this site will deliver 45 dwellings per 
annum (45 x 4 = 180). 

Manor Farm, Sandholme Lane, Frampton B/17/0336 1 1 There is no evidence to suggest that the dwelling will not be delivered in the next five years. 

The Barn, Fen Road, Frampton West B/18/0331 1 1 There is no evidence to suggest that the dwelling will not be delivered in the next five years. 

The Spinney, Ralphs Lane, Frampton West B/18/0233 1 1 There is no evidence to suggest that the dwelling will not be delivered in the next five years. 

Barn south of Georgian House, Church 
Road, Freiston 

B/17/0086 1 1 There is no evidence to suggest that the dwelling will not be delivered in the next five years. 

Adj. to 19 Acorn Close, Haltoft End B/18/0364 1 1 There is no evidence to suggest that the dwelling will not be delivered in the next five years. 

Holland House Farm, Kirton Drove, Kirton 
Fen 

B/16/0256 2 2 There is no evidence to suggest that the dwellings will not be delivered in the next five years. 

Bambers Farm, Langrick Road, Brothertoft B/16/0356 1 1 There is no evidence to suggest that the dwelling will not be delivered in the next five years. 

Bailey Bridge Farm, North Forty Foot Bank, 
Holland Fen 

B/17/0271 2 2 There is no evidence to suggest that the dwellings will not be delivered in the next five years. 

The Old Barn, Bye Lane, Brothertoft B/18/0117 
B/18/0294 

1 1 There is no evidence to suggest that the dwelling will not be delivered in the next five years. 

 
 
Former Mani Firs, London Road, Kirton 

 
 
B/18/0398 

 
 

105 

 
 

105 

The site is in the hands of a housebuilder (Ashwood Homes), and there is no evidence to suggest that housing will 
not be delivered on the site in the next five years. In the absence of specific information on Aswood Homes’ 
development programme for this site, it is assumed that no dwellings will be delivered during 2019/20. At its site off 
Station Road, Swineshead Ashwood Homes has completed an average of 28 dwellings per annum, and there is no 
evidence to suggest that the rate of completions on their Former Mani Firs site will be any different. It is therefore 
assumed that, throughout 2020/21 to 2023/24, this site will deliver 28 dwellings per annum (28 x 4 = 105). 

47 Boston Road, Kirton B/16/0039 2 2 There is no evidence to suggest that the dwellings will not be delivered in the next five years. 

14 Station Road, Kirton B/16/0180 1 1 There is no evidence to suggest that the dwelling will not be delivered in the next five years. 

24-26 High Street, Kirton B/16/0361 4 4 There is no evidence to suggest that the dwellings will not be delivered in the next five years. 

Sunnyside Farm, Holme Road, Kirton Holme B/17/0400 1 1 There is no evidence to suggest that the dwelling will not be delivered in the next five years. 

Bungley Lane, Kirton B/18/0210 1 1 There is no evidence to suggest that the dwelling will not be delivered in the next five years. 

Rear of 60 & 62 Willington Road, Kirton B/18/0274 6 6 There is no evidence to suggest that the dwellings will not be delivered in the next five years. 

The Farm Yard, Mill Lane, Kirton End B/17/0035 1 1 There is no evidence to suggest that the dwelling will not be delivered in the next five years. 

Beech Tree Farm, Highgate, Leverton B/18/0171 1 1 There is no evidence to suggest that the dwelling will not be delivered in the next five years. 

Cowbroads Lane, Leake Commonside B/17/0447 1 1 There is no evidence to suggest that the dwelling will not be delivered in the next five years. 

Station Road, Sutterton B/16/0409 21 21 The site is in the hands of a housebuilder (Applegate Homes), and there is no evidence to suggest that the 
dwellings will not be delivered in the next five years. 

Adj. to 40 Abbey Road, Swineshead B/17/0249 1 1 There is no evidence to suggest that the dwelling will not be delivered in the next five years. 

Golden Ball Cottage, Fenhouses Lane, 
Swineshead 

B/18/0283 1 1 There is no evidence to suggest that the dwelling will not be delivered in the next five years. 

Dial House Barn, Timms Drove, Swineshead B/18/0319 1 1 There is no evidence to suggest that the dwelling will not be delivered in the next five years. 

P
age 65



Address Planning application 
reference 

Total  capacity Number of 
dwellings 
expected to be 
built by 31

st
 

March 2024 

Notes 

Sites with full planning permission, where development has not yet begun (continued) 
 

Rear of Westminster Terrace, South Street, 
Swineshead 

B/17/0396 18 18 There is no evidence to suggest that the dwellings will not be delivered in the next five years. 

Marsh House, Rushy Drove, Wigtoft B/16/0325 1 1 There is no evidence to suggest that the dwelling will not be delivered in the next five years. 

Lewis Farm, Fishmere End Road, Wigoft n/a 2 2 Exceeded 56 day consultation period, and no application number was allocated. There is no evidence to 
suggest that the dwellings will not be delivered in the next five years. 

Church End, Wrangle B/17/0321 1 1 There is no evidence to suggest that the dwelling will not be delivered in the next five years. 

Highfield House, West End Road, Wyberton B/17/0500 4 4 There is no evidence to suggest that the dwellings will not be delivered in the next five years. 

Castle Nau, West End Road, Wyberton B/18/0183 1 1 There is no evidence to suggest that the dwelling will not be delivered in the next five years. 

The Barns, Headland Farm, Great Fen Road, 
Wyberton Fen 

B/17/0304 1 1 There is no evidence to suggest that the dwelling will not be delivered in the next five years. 

Phase 1, Heron Park, Wyberton Low Road, 
Boston 

B/17/0317 71 71 The site is in the hands of a housebuilder (Chestnut Homes), and site investigations have been carried 
out. There is no evidence to suggest that the dwellings will not be delivered in the next five years. 

Adj. to 122 West End Road, Wyberton B/18/0503 1 1 There is no evidence to suggest that the dwelling will not be delivered in the next five years. 

Phase 2, Heron Park, Wyberton Low Road, 
Boston 

B/18/0489 32 32 The site is in the hands of a housebuilder (Chestnut Homes), and there is no evidence to suggest that 
the dwellings will not be delivered in the next five years. 

Total from sites with full planning 
permission, where development has not yet 
begun 

 
n/a 

 
1,049 

 
968 

 
n/a 

  

P
age 66



Address Planning 
application 
reference 

Total  
capacity 

Number of 
dwellings 
expected to be 
built by 31

st
 

March 2024 

Notes 

Sites with outline planning permission, which will deliver 9 or fewer dwellings 

Adj. to Stoneleigh, Sutterton Drove, Amber 
Hill 

B/18/0118 2 2 There is no evidence to suggest that the dwellings will not be delivered in the next five years. 

Benington Village Hall, David’s Lane, 
Benington 

B/18/0100 2 2 There is no evidence to suggest that the dwellings will not be delivered in the next five years. 

Milkinghill Lane, Bicker B/18/0096 9 9 There is no evidence to suggest that the dwellings will not be delivered in the next five years. 

67 Sleaford Road, Boston B/16/0078 1 1 There is no evidence to suggest that the dwelling will not be delivered in the next five years. 

Adj. to 29 Pettit Way, Boston B/17/0094 1 1 There is no evidence to suggest that the dwelling will not be delivered in the next five years. 

Carmel Green, Boston B/17/0167 6 6 There is no evidence to suggest that the dwellings will not be delivered in the next five years. 

3 Benington Road, Butterwick B/15/0056 1 1 There is no evidence to suggest that the dwelling will not be delivered in the next five years. 

Old Main Road, Fosdyke B/17/0407 5 5 There is no evidence to suggest that the dwellings will not be delivered in the next five years. 

The Bungalow, Old Main Road, Fosdyke B/18/0227 6 6 There is no evidence to suggest that the dwellings will not be delivered in the next five years. 

Adj. to Sunray, London Road, Frampton B/16/0327 2 2 There is no evidence to suggest that the dwellings will not be delivered in the next five years. 

Adj. to Excessive, Homers Lane, Freiston B/18/0300 2 2 There is no evidence to suggest that the dwellings will not be delivered in the next five years. 

Adj. to Fernlea, Brand End Road, Freiston B/18/0418 1 1 There is no evidence to suggest that the dwelling will not be delivered in the next five years. 

Rear of 84 Boston Road, Kirton B/17/0491 4 4 There is no evidence to suggest that the dwellings will not be delivered in the next five years. 

East of 26-34 Boston Road, Kirton B/16/0407 3 3 There is no evidence to suggest that the dwellings will not be delivered in the next five years. 

Leyland, 322A Willington Road, Kirton End B/18/0226 1 1 There is no evidence to suggest that the dwelling will not be delivered in the next five years. 

Adj. to The Farm, Laceys Lane, Leverton B/18/0045 3 3 There is no evidence to suggest that the dwellings will not be delivered in the next five years. 

Side & rear of The White Hart PH, Church 
Road, Old Leake 

B/15/0514 4 4 There is no evidence to suggest that the dwellings will not be delivered in the next five years. 

Jessamine Cottage, Green Lane, Old Leake B/17/0232 1 1 There is no evidence to suggest that the dwelling will not be delivered in the next five years. 

Rear of The Croft, Coles Lane, Swineshead B/18/0412 5 5 There is no evidence to suggest that the dwellings will not be delivered in the next five years. 

Rear of Northorpe House, Wigtoft Road, 
Sutterton 

B/17/0402 9 9 There is no evidence to suggest that the dwellings will not be delivered in the next five years. 

The Cottage, Brick Lane, Wrangle B/17/0285 1 1 There is no evidence to suggest that the dwelling will not be delivered in the next five years. 

Adj. to Knebworth House, Church End, 
Wrangle 

B/18/0058 1 1 There is no evidence to suggest that the dwelling will not be delivered in the next five years. 

Wortleys Lane, Wyberton B/16/0138 4 4 There is no evidence to suggest that the dwellings will not be delivered in the next five years. 

Between 287 London Road & 4 West End 
Road, Wyberton 

B/16/0322 2 2 There is no evidence to suggest that the dwellings will not be delivered in the next five years. 

Total from sites with outline planning 
permission, which will deliver 9 or fewer 
dwellings 

 
n/a 

 
76 

 
76 

 
n/a 

  

P
age 67



Address Planning 
application 
reference 

Total  
capacity 

Number of 
dwellings 
expected to be 
built by 31

st
 

March 2024 

Notes 

Sites with outline planning permission, which will deliver 10 or more dwellings 

St Swithins Close, Bicker B/16/0463 40 0 There is no clear evidence to suggest that these dwellings will be delivered in the next five years. 

The Duke of York, 7 Lincoln Lane, Boston B/16/0061 12 0 There is no clear evidence to suggest that these dwellings will be delivered in the next five years. 

 
Heron Park, Wyberton Low Road, Boston 

 
B/17/0317 

 
97 

 
0 

The site is in the hands of a housebuilder (Chestnut Homes), and full permission is outstanding (under permission 
B/17/0317) for the construction of 71 dwellings as phase 1 and 32 dwellings as phase 2 (B/18/0489). However, 
there is no clear evidence to suggest that the 97 dwellings of later phases will be delivered in the next five years.   

Rear of 1a-15 Watery Lane, Butterwick B/16/0465 42 0 There is no clear evidence to suggest that these dwellings will be delivered in the next five years. 

Adj. to Magnolia Lodge, Benington Road, 
Butterwick 

B/18/0328 26 0 There is no clear evidence to suggest that these dwellings will be delivered in the next five years.  [N.B. This site is 
Housing Allocation But004 in the South East Lincolnshire Local Plan 2011-2036.] 

Norwood Yard, Church Green Road, Fishtoft B/15/0424 20 0 There is no clear evidence to suggest that these dwellings will be delivered in the next five years. 

East of Whitehouse Lane, Boston B/18/0012 83 0 There is no clear evidence that these dwellings will be delivered in the next five years. [N.B. This site is Housing 
Allocation Fis003 in the South East Lincolnshire Local Plan 2011-2036.] 

South of Wainfleet Road, Boston B/17/0511 200 0 There is no clear evidence to suggest that these dwellings will be delivered in the next five years. [N.B. This site is 
Housing Allocation Fis017a in the South East Lincolnshire Local Plan 2011-2036.] 

Between Station Road and Wash Road, 
Kirton 

B/15/0503 30 30 The site is in the hands of a housebuilder (D & R Homes (Kirton) Ltd) who indicate that they envisage the 
completion of the first dwelling in February 2020, and to complete 15 homes every 12 months thereafter. 

North of Old Main Road, Old Leake B/17/0513 35 0 There is no clear evidence to suggest that these dwellings will be delivered in the next five years. 

 
Yew Lodge, Wigtoft Road, Sutterton 

 
B/16/0313 

 
14 

 
9 

The site is in the hands of a housebuilder (Sherridan Homes Ltd.) who indicate that they envisage the completion of 
the first dwelling in 2020, and to complete 2 to 3 homes per year thereafter. A full planning application (B/19/0011) 
for the erection of 9 dwellings was submitted in January 2019. 

 
Woods Nurseries, High Street, Swineshead 

 
B/17/0244 

 
41 

 
0 

 
There is no clear evidence to suggest that these dwellings will be delivered in the next five years. 

 
Geo H Kime & Co. Ltd., Main Road, Wrangle 

 
B/16/0296 

 
27 

 
0 

Outline planning permission for the residential development of this site has been granted four times in all 
(B/07/0108, B/10/0116, B/13/0178, and B/16/0296). Consequently, availability may be doubtful, and there is no clear 
evidence that these dwellings will be delivered in the next five years. 

Broadgate, Wrangle B/17/0147 45 0 There is no clear evidence that these dwellings will be delivered in the next five years. 

Tooley Lane, Wrangle B/17/0433 45 0 There is no clear evidence that these dwellings will be delivered in the next five years. [N.B. This site is Housing 
Allocation Wra013 in the South East Lincolnshire Local Plan 2011-2036.] 

Former Phoenix Poultry Farm, Swineshead 
Road, Boston 

B/16/0298 25 25 The site is in the hands of a housebuilder (Waterloo Housing Group) who indicate that they intend to commence 
development in 2019, and envisage completing all the dwellings by August/September 2020. 

Total from sites with outline planning 
permission, which will deliver 10 or more 
dwellings 

 
n/a 

 
782 

 
64 

 
n/a 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 68



 

 
 
 
 

Planning 
application 
reference 

Total  
capacity 

Number of 
dwellings 
expected to be 
built by 31

st
 

March 2024 

Notes 

Sites where there is a resolution to grant planning permission  

None None None None None 

Total from sites where there is a 
resolution to grant planning permission 

 
n/a 

 
0 

 
0 

 
n/a 

 
  

P
age 69



Address Site reference Total  
capacity 

Number of 
dwellings 
expected to be 
built by 31

st
 

March 2024 

Notes 

Sites which are allocated for residential development in the adopted South East Lincolnshire Local Plan (without a planning permission or resolution to grant) 

 
Land west of Fenside Road, Boston 

 
Fen001 

 
69 

 
0 

The site is in the hands of a housebuilder (Seagate Homes), who submitted a full planning application (reference 
B/18/0399) in October 2018 for the construction of 69 dwellings. However, there is no clear evidence that these 
dwellings will be delivered in the next five years. 

 
Land north of Langrick Road, Boston 

 
Fen002 

 
43 

 
43 
 

The site is in the hands of a developer (Oxygen Real Estate), who submitted an outline planning application 
(reference B/18/0435) in October 2018 for the construction of 43 dwellings. They indicate that they envisage: 
submitting a reserved matters application by February 2020; development commencing in September 2020; and 
development being completed by March 2023. 

Land east of Fenside Road, Boston (those 
parts which are not the subject of B/16/0106 
& B/18/0395) 

 
Fen006 

 
163 

 
0 
 

Although 79 dwellings are currently being delivered on part of the site (under permission B/18/03950), there is no 
clear evidence that dwellings will be delivered on this remaining part of the site in the next five years. 

Land north-east of Fishtoft Road, Boston Fis002 12 0 There is no clear evidence that these dwellings will be delivered in the next five years. 

Land west of Toot Lane, Boston Fis033 222 0 There is no clear evidence that these dwellings will be delivered in the next five years. 

Land west of Church Green Road, Boston Fis038 53 0 There is no clear evidence that these dwellings will be delivered in the next five years. 

Land west of Horncastle Road, Boston Nor006 71 0 There is no clear evidence that these dwellings will be delivered in the next five years. 

Land south of Main Ridge East, Boston Pil002 13 0 There is no clear evidence that these dwellings will be delivered in the next five years. 

Boston Delivery Office, South End, Boston Pil006 19 0 These is no clear evidence that these dwellings will be delivered in the next five years. 

Land south of Chain Bridge Road, Boston Sou006 1,515 0 The site is in the hands of a housebuilder (Chestnut Homes). However, there is no clear evidence that these 
dwellings will be delivered in the next five years. 

Land west of Freshney Way, Boston Wes001 11 0 There is no clear evidence that these dwellings will be delivered in the next five years. 

 
Land south of North Forty Foot Bank, Boston 

 
Wes002 

 
1,138 

 
0 

The site is in the hands of a housebuilder (Broadgate Homes), who submitted an outline planning application 
(reference B/17/0367) in September 2017 for the construction of up to 1,200 dwellings. However, there is no clear 
evidence that these dwellings will be delivered in the next five years. 

Land south of Swineshead Road, Boston Wyb013 85 0 There is no clear evidence that these dwellings will be delivered in the next five years. 

 
 
 
Land north of Tytton Lane East, Boston 

 
 
 
Wyb033 

 
 
 

250 

 
 
 

61 

The majority (5.04 hectares) of this site is in the hands of a housebuilder (Cyden Homes), who indicate that they: are 
(as at January 2019) undertaking pre-planning investigations; intend to submit a planning application in 2019; intend 
to commence development in 2021; and expect the first homes to be delivered at the end of 2021. At its site at 
Former DeMontfort Campus, Mill Road, Boston (B/15/0100) Cyden Homes has completed an average of 27 dwellings 
per annum over the last 3 years. Assume 27 x 2.25 = 61. 
 
The remaining 3.3 hectares of the site is the subject of an undetermined outline application (B/17/0515) for the 
development of 85 dwellings. There is no clear evidence that these dwellings will be delivered in the next five years. 

291-293 London Road, Boston Wyb041 41 0 There is no clear evidence that these dwellings will be delivered in the next five years. 

31-33 London Road, Kirton Kir016 40 0 The site is in the hands of a housebuilder (Kier Homes). However, there is no clear evidence that these dwellings will 
be dlivered in the next five years. 

Land east of Woodside Road, Kirton Kir034 41 0 The site is in the hands of a housebuilder (Ashwood Homes), and is the subject of an application for the construction 
of 68 dwellings. However, there is currently no clear evidence that these dwellings will be delivered in the next five 
years. 

 
Land to the west of London Road, Kirton 

 
Kir041 

 
139 

 
0 

The majority (4.21 hectares) of this site is in the hands of a housebuilder (Ashwood Homes), who submitted a full 
planning application (reference B/19/0040) in February 2019 for the construction of 139 dwellings. However, there is 
currently no clear evidence that these dwellings will be delivered in the next five years. 

Land south of Spalding Road/ west of Station 
Road, Sutterton 

Sut009/ Sut028 263 0 Although the landowners are in contact with the Borough Council concerning this site, there is no clear evidence that 
these dwellings will be delivered in the next five years. 

Land west of Station Road, Swineshead Swi015 116 0 There is no clear evidence that these dwellings will be delivered in the next five years. 

Land at North End, Swineshead Swi018 35 0 There is no clear evidence that these dwellings will be delivered in the next five years. 

Land west of High Street, Swineshead Swi037 59 0 There is no clear evidence that these dwellings will be delivered in the next five years. 

Land east of Donington Road, Bicker Bic004 27 0 There is no clear evidence that these dwellings will be delivered in the next five years. 

Land west of Drury Lane, Bicker Bic015 10 0 There is no clear evidence that these dwellings will be delivered in the next five years. 

Land east of Sea Lane, Butterwick But002 21 0 There is no clear evidence that these dwellings will be delivered in the next five years. 

 
Land north of Peter Paine Close, Butterwick 

 
But020 

 
23 

 
23 

The site is in the hands of a housebuilder (Broadgate Homes), who indicate that they envisage: submitting a full 
planning application by August 2019; development commencing by September 2020; and development being 
completed by September 2021.  

  

P
age 70



Address Site reference Total  
capacity 

Number of 
dwellings 
expected to be 
built by 31

st
 

March 2024 

Notes 

Sites which are allocated for residential development in the adopted South East Lincolnshire Local Plan (without a planning permission or resolution to grant) (continued) 

Land east of Gaysfield Road, Fishtoft Fis046 45 0 There is no clear evidence that these dwellings will be delivered in the next five years. 

Land west of Asperton Road, Wigtoft Wig014 19 0 There is no clear evidence that these dwellings will be delivered in the next five years. 

Total from sites which are allocated for 
residential development in an adopted 
Local Plan 

 
 

n/a 

 
 

4,543 

 
 

127 
 

 
 

n/a 

 
  

P
age 71



Address Site reference Total  
capacity 

Number of 
dwellings 
expected to be 
built by 31

st
 

March 2024 

Notes 

Sites which are identified on a Brownfield Land Register 

North of Main Ridge East, Boston BLR/BOS/007 8 0 There is no clear evidence that these dwellings will be delivered in the next five years. 

North-east of Freiston Road, Boston BLR/BOS/010 8 0  There is no clear evidence that these dwellings will be delivered in the next five years. 

Former Norton Lea (NHS) site, London 
Road, Boston 

BLR/BOS/011 60 0 There is no clear evidence that these dwellings will be delivered in the next five years. 

Former Magnadata site, Norfolk Street, 
Boston 

BLR/BOS/012 36 0 There is no clear evidence that these dwellings will be delivered in the next five years. 

Former Magnadata site, Horncastle Road, 
Boston 

BLR/BOS/013 173 0 There is no clear evidence that these dwellings will be delivered in the next five years. 

North of Fountain Lane, Boston BLR/BOS/014 9 0 There is no clear evidence that these dwellings will be delivered in the next five years. 

1 Witham Town, Boston BLR/BOS/035 12 0 There is no clear evidence that these dwellings will be delivered in the next five years. 

Total from sites which are identified on a 
Brownfield Land Register 

 
n/a 

 
306 

 
0 

 
n/a 

 

P
age 72



BOSTON BOROUGH COUNCIL
Municipal Buildings, West Street, Boston, Lincs, PE21 8QR

Tel: 01205 314305  Email: planning@boston.gov.uk

DELEGATED DECISION LIST

Full details of Planning Applications and Decisions can be viewed online at www.mybostonuk.com

Location DecisionApplicant 
Name

Decision
Date

Case 
Officer

Application 
Number

Development 
Description

B/19/0042 19/03/2019Dunelm Favourable with
conditions

Andrew
Watson

Units 1A and 1B , Alban
Retail Park, Grantham
Road, Boston, PE21 7NN

Advertisement Consent for
11 internally illuminated
fascia signs

Boston Town Area
Committee

B/19/0042 19/03/2019Dunelm Favourable with
conditions

Andrew
Watson

Units 1A and 1B , Alban
Retail Park, Grantham
Road, Boston, PE21 7NN

Advertisement Consent for
11 internally illuminated
fascia signs

Wyberton Parish Council

B/19/0057 19/03/2019Two storey side extension BurtAndrew
Watson

Favourable with
conditions

40, Bayswood Avenue,
Boston, Lincolnshire, PE21
7RT

Boston Town Area
Committee

Page 1 Of 12 15/05/2019Development Manager - Lisa Hughes

P
age 73

A
genda Item

 5

https://www.mybostonuk.com/planning-application-search/
https://www.mybostonuk.com/planning-application-search/?ref=B/19/0042
https://www.mybostonuk.com/planning-application-search/?ref=B/19/0042
https://www.mybostonuk.com/planning-application-search/?ref=B/19/0057


Location DecisionApplicant 
Name

Decision
Date

Case 
Officer

Application 
Number

Development 
Description

B/18/0525 20/03/2019John Taylor Bell Favourable
Planning
decision

West View, Lowfields Road,
Benington, Boston, PE22
0EE

Application under s73 for
the removal of Agricultural
habitation clause of  BR
35/66

Benington Parish
Council

B/19/0026 20/03/2019John Taylor Baxter Unfavourable
decision

The Old Smithy, Highgate,
Leverton, Boston, PE22
0AJ

Application for Prior
Approval change of use
from agricultural building to
dwelling house (Class C3)

Leverton Parish Council

B/13/0368/CD2 20/03/2019Condition
Discharge

Trevor
Thompson

Benington
Community
Heritage Trust

All Saints Church, Main
Road, Benington, Boston,
PE22 0BT

Application to have details
approved relating to
condition 6 (Lighting column
details) of planning
permission B/13/0368
(Change of use of
agricultural land to form
new parking area including
formation of access to
highway)

Benington Parish
Council

B/18/0497 21/03/2019John Taylor Favourable with
conditions

Smartmove
Boston Ltd

20 Wormgate, Boston,
PE21 6NR

Listed Building Consent for
external alterations to front
elevation to facilitate the

Page 2 Of 12 15/05/2019Development Manager - Lisa Hughes

P
age 74

https://www.mybostonuk.com/planning-application-search/?ref=B/18/0525
https://www.mybostonuk.com/planning-application-search/?ref=B/19/0026
https://www.mybostonuk.com/planning-application-search/?ref=B/13/0368/CD2
https://www.mybostonuk.com/planning-application-search/?ref=B/18/0497


Location DecisionApplicant 
Name

Decision
Date

Case 
Officer

Application 
Number

Development 
Description

provision of 2 no. external
light fittings with a 'matt'
black' finish

Boston Town Area
Committee

B/19/0014 21/03/2019Mallett Favourable with
conditions

87 Church Road, Boston,
PE21 0LH

Stuart
Thomsett

Single storey rear
extension, following
demolition of existing
extension

Boston Town Area
Committee

B/19/0052 21/03/2019E I Group PLC Favourable with
conditions

Andrew
Watson

The Stump & Candle,
Market Place, Boston, PE21
6NF

Internal alterations and
re-furbishment of existing
trade areas and erection of
external free-standing
timber smoking shelter to
rear of drinking area

Boston Town Area
Committee

B/19/0062 21/03/2019Stukins Favourable with
conditions

13, Sandringham Gardens,
Fishtoft, Boston PE21 9QA

Andrew
Watson

Change of use and
alterations to garage to form
a hairdressing salon and
part storage

Fishtoft Parish Council

Page 3 Of 12 15/05/2019Development Manager - Lisa Hughes

P
age 75

https://www.mybostonuk.com/planning-application-search/?ref=B/19/0014
https://www.mybostonuk.com/planning-application-search/?ref=B/19/0052
https://www.mybostonuk.com/planning-application-search/?ref=B/19/0062


Location DecisionApplicant 
Name

Decision
Date

Case 
Officer

Application 
Number

Development 
Description

B/19/0034 25/03/2019FelipesRetention of outbuilding in
rear garden

Trevor
Thompson

Favourable with
conditions

5 Council House, Bunkers
Hill Lane, Wyberton,
Boston, PE21 7AE

Wyberton Parish Council

B/18/0524 27/03/2019Ashley Favourable with
conditions

114 High Street, Boston,
PE21 8TG

Trevor
Thompson

Change of use of existing
dwelling to create 4 flats
(Class C3) on ground, first
and second floors plus
demolition of rear extension
and erection of a new single
storey extension to provide
bin and cycle store, erection
of metal gates and
boundary fence

Boston Town Area
Committee

B/19/0027 27/03/2019Favourable with
conditions

Trevor
Thompson

Chestnut
Homes Ltd

The Quadrant, Land off
A16, Boston, Wyberton,
PE21 7HT

Application for the approval
of Reserved Matters
following the grant of outline
planning approval
B/14/0165 for detailed
approval for roads known
as 6, 7 & 8

Wyberton Parish Council

B/19/0029 27/03/2019Andrew Favourable with
conditions

83 Horncastle Road,
Boston, PE21 9HY

Stuart
Thomsett

Single storey rear
extension, following

Page 4 Of 12 15/05/2019Development Manager - Lisa Hughes

P
age 76

https://www.mybostonuk.com/planning-application-search/?ref=B/19/0034
https://www.mybostonuk.com/planning-application-search/?ref=B/18/0524
https://www.mybostonuk.com/planning-application-search/?ref=B/19/0027
https://www.mybostonuk.com/planning-application-search/?ref=B/19/0029


Location DecisionApplicant 
Name

Decision
Date

Case 
Officer

Application 
Number

Development 
Description

demolition of existing
extension

Boston Town Area
Committee

B/18/0395/CD1 27/03/2019Condition
Discharge

Land off Puritan Way,
Boston  PE21 8NW

Trevor
Thompson

on behalf of
Waterloo
Housing

Approval of Condition 9
(Wall and Fencing
Scheme), Condition 10
(Drainage) and Condition
18 (Play Equipment) of
planning approval
B/18/0395 (Construction of
79 dwellings plus roads,
public open space and
associated works)

Boston Town Area
Committee

B/18/0278 29/03/2019John Taylor Favourable with
conditions

AA Properties
Ltd

Fountain House, 1 Red Lion
Street, Boston, PE21 6NY

Change of use of upper
floors of building from retail
(Class A1) to serviced
bedrooms (Sui generis)

Boston Town Area
Committee

B/18/0457 29/03/2019John Taylor Withdrawn by
applicant/agent

D & R Homes
(Kirton) Ltd

Land off Station Road,
Kirton, Boston, PE20 1LQ

Erection of 31 dwellings
including demolition of
existing dwelling.

Page 5 Of 12 15/05/2019Development Manager - Lisa Hughes

P
age 77

https://www.mybostonuk.com/planning-application-search/?ref=B/18/0395/CD1
https://www.mybostonuk.com/planning-application-search/?ref=B/18/0278
https://www.mybostonuk.com/planning-application-search/?ref=B/18/0457


Location DecisionApplicant 
Name

Decision
Date

Case 
Officer

Application 
Number

Development 
Description

Kirton Parish Council

B/19/0036 29/03/2019Single storey rear extension ClareStuart
Thomsett

Favourable with
conditions

Blackthorn Cottage,
Thorniman Lane, Frampton,
Boston, Lincolnshire, PE20
1AJ

Frampton Parish Council

B/17/0068/CD2 29/03/2019Jays Condition
Discharge

Stuart
Thomsett

Land off Station Road at the
A16/A17 Sutterton
Roundabout, Boston,
Lincolnshire, PE20 2LF

Approval of Condition 3
(Commencement of the
truck stop), Condition 9
(Drainage Maintenance
Plan), Condition 11 (Soft
Landscaping Works),
Condition 13 (Internal
Signage Regime) and
Condition 15 (Lighting
Regime) of planning
approval B/17/0068

Sutterton Parish Council

B/17/0068/NMA 29/03/2019Lindum Group
Ltd

Stuart
Thomsett

Approved
Non-material
Amendment

Application under s96A for
a non material amendment
to the drainage plan

Land off Station Road at the
A16/A17 Sutterton
Roundabout, Boston, PE20
2LF

Sutterton Parish Council

B/19/0080 01/04/2019Single storey rear extension SchaffarczykAndrew

Page 6 Of 12 15/05/2019Development Manager - Lisa Hughes

P
age 78

https://www.mybostonuk.com/planning-application-search/?ref=B/19/0036
https://www.mybostonuk.com/planning-application-search/?ref=B/17/0068/CD2
https://www.mybostonuk.com/planning-application-search/?ref=B/17/0068/NMA
https://www.mybostonuk.com/planning-application-search/?ref=B/19/0080


Location DecisionApplicant 
Name

Decision
Date

Case 
Officer

Application 
Number

Development 
Description

Watson
Favourable with
conditions

Ironda, Jolly Farmer Lane,
Freiston, Boston,  PE22
0PQ

Fishtoft Parish Council

B/19/0080 01/04/2019Single storey rear extension SchaffarczykAndrew
Watson

Favourable with
conditions

Ironda, Jolly Farmer Lane,
Freiston, Boston,  PE22
0PQ

Freiston Parish Council

B/19/0099 01/04/2019ChaseSecond storey rear
extension

Andrew
Watson

Favourable with
conditions

16, Elmwood Avenue,
Boston, Lincolnshire, PE21
7RU

Boston Town Area
Committee

B/19/0038 02/04/2019Smith Favourable with
conditions

Stuart
Thomsett

The Piggery, Lade Bank,
Wrangle, Boston, PE22
9DS

Retention of the static
caravan which received
temporary planning
permission under B/11/0058
& B/15/0513

Wrangle Parish Council

B/19/0054 02/04/2019Favourable with
conditions

12 -14, Main Ridge West,
Boston, PE21 6QQ

Stuart
Thomsett

Neil Dowlman
Architecture
Ltd

Boundary wall and
automated barrier system to
existing car park and

Page 7 Of 12 15/05/2019Development Manager - Lisa Hughes

P
age 79

https://www.mybostonuk.com/planning-application-search/?ref=B/19/0080
https://www.mybostonuk.com/planning-application-search/?ref=B/19/0099
https://www.mybostonuk.com/planning-application-search/?ref=B/19/0038
https://www.mybostonuk.com/planning-application-search/?ref=B/19/0054


Location DecisionApplicant 
Name

Decision
Date

Case 
Officer

Application 
Number

Development 
Description

erection of 5 no. lamp posts

Boston Town Area
Committee

B/19/0072 02/04/2019Lennon Favourable with
conditions

162,  Wyberton Low Road,
Boston PE21 7SE

Andrew
Watson

Demolition of existing utility
area and garage. Erection
of a single storey side and
rear extension with internal/
external alterations

Boston Town Area
Committee

B/18/0531 03/04/2019John Taylor J Brigham Favourable with
conditions

Sanham Farm, Kirton
Drove, Holland Fen,
Boston, PE20 3SZ

Conversion and extension
to an agricultural barn to
form new dwelling with new
vehicular access

Brothertoft Parish
Council

B/19/0018 03/04/2019Thomas Favourable with
conditions

Stuart
Thomsett

May Cottage, Chapel Lane,
Amber Hill, Boston, PE20
3RJ

Demolition of existing
detached dwelling, and
erection of detached 2
storey dwelling

Amber Hill Parish
Council

B/18/0509 05/04/2019John Taylor Withdrawn by

Page 8 Of 12 15/05/2019Development Manager - Lisa Hughes

P
age 80

https://www.mybostonuk.com/planning-application-search/?ref=B/19/0072
https://www.mybostonuk.com/planning-application-search/?ref=B/18/0531
https://www.mybostonuk.com/planning-application-search/?ref=B/19/0018
https://www.mybostonuk.com/planning-application-search/?ref=B/18/0509


Location DecisionApplicant 
Name

Decision
Date

Case 
Officer

Application 
Number

Development 
Description

applicant/agent
Maplethorpe &
Mooney Ltd

Restore Church, Station
Street, Boston, PE21 8RL

Change of use of church to
two residential dwellings
(Class C3) and erection of
2, two storey residential
dwellings following
demolition of existing
annexe

Boston Town Area
Committee

B/19/0008 05/04/2019John Taylor Kruger Favourable with
conditions

The Burrows, Hall Lane,
Frampton, Boston, PE20
1AB

Change of use of domestic
garage (Class C3)
associated 'The Burrows'  to
a mixed use of domestic
garage and food
preparation place (Class
B2)

Frampton Parish Council

B/19/0069 05/04/2019Stuart
Thomsett

Favourable
Planning
decision

Boston
Preservation
Trust

Boston Preservation Trust ,
Fydell House, South Street,
Boston, PE21 6HT

Works to trees in a
conservation area to
include:

Juglans Nigra (walnut) -
Prune lower branches by
15% overhanging nearby
buildings
Morus (mulberry) - Prune by
20%  various branches to

Page 9 Of 12 15/05/2019Development Manager - Lisa Hughes

P
age 81

https://www.mybostonuk.com/planning-application-search/?ref=B/19/0008
https://www.mybostonuk.com/planning-application-search/?ref=B/19/0069


Location DecisionApplicant 
Name

Decision
Date

Case 
Officer

Application 
Number

Development 
Description

be inline with boundary wall
Ilex (holly) - Fell 100%  to
make way for new parking
space

Boston Town Area
Committee

B/19/0055 08/04/2019Jurkowski Favourable with
conditions

Andrew
Watson

2 Bridge Foot, Marsh Road,
Sutterton, Boston, PE20
2LR

Single storey rear extension
following demolition of
existing conservatory and
render existing facing brick

Sutterton Parish Council

B/19/0059 08/04/2019Favourable with
conditions

Andrew
Watson

Walsingham
Planning

Former Little Chef,
Sutterton Roundabout,
PE20 2LG

Retention of  various minor
external alterations to
existing restaurant

Sutterton Parish Council

B/18/0328 09/04/2019John Taylor Heath Favourable with
conditions

Land adjacent to Magnolia
Lodge, Benington Road,
Butterwick, PE22 0EX

Outline application with all
matters (access,
landscaping, layout,
appearance and scale)
reserved for later approval
for the erection of up to 26
dwellings

Butterwick Parish
Council

Page 10 Of 12 15/05/2019Development Manager - Lisa Hughes

P
age 82

https://www.mybostonuk.com/planning-application-search/?ref=B/19/0055
https://www.mybostonuk.com/planning-application-search/?ref=B/19/0059
https://www.mybostonuk.com/planning-application-search/?ref=B/18/0328


Location DecisionApplicant 
Name

Decision
Date

Case 
Officer

Application 
Number

Development 
Description

B/16/0282/CD1 10/04/2019Condition
Discharge

Trevor
Thompson

Grand Gables
Limited

5 7, Witham Bank East,
Boston, Lincolnshire, PE21
9JU

Approval of details reserved
by condition 3
(contamination) and 19
(demolition) of approval
B/16/0282

Boston Town Area
Committee

B/18/0532 11/04/2019Boston Barrier, BostonJohn Taylor Environment
Agency

Favourable with
conditions

Advertisement consent for 6
navigation matrix display
boards

Boston Town Area
Committee

B/18/0523 12/04/2019Ashley Favourable with
conditions

114 High Street, Boston,
PE21 8TG

Trevor
Thompson

Listed Building Consent for
internal alterations to
facilitate the conversion of
existing dwelling into 4 flats
plus demolition of rear
extension and erection of a
new single storey extension
to provide bin and cycle
store

Boston Town Area
Committee

B/19/0039 12/04/2019Two storey detached
dwelling with access

Trevor
Thompson

Favourable with
conditions

Baddow
Properties
Limited

Land adjacent to The
Bushes, North End,
Swineshead, Boston, PE20

Page 11 Of 12 15/05/2019Development Manager - Lisa Hughes

P
age 83

https://www.mybostonuk.com/planning-application-search/?ref=B/16/0282/CD1
https://www.mybostonuk.com/planning-application-search/?ref=B/18/0532
https://www.mybostonuk.com/planning-application-search/?ref=B/18/0523
https://www.mybostonuk.com/planning-application-search/?ref=B/19/0039


Location DecisionApplicant 
Name

Decision
Date

Case 
Officer

Application 
Number

Development 
Description

3NA

Swineshead Parish
Council

B/19/0049 12/04/2019Burney Favourable with
conditions

Trevor
Thompson

Plot A, Land between A16
and Boston Unit, Land
between A16 and Boston
Stadium, Boston

Advertisement Consent for
8 fascia signs and 1 totem
sign (Burger King) and 3
Fascia signs and 1 totem
sign (Greggs)

PRE/19/0002 12/04/2019Andrew
Watson

Ministry of
Defence

BBC
Consultation
Response

RAF Leeming, RAF
Waddington and RAF
Wittering

Consultation for Ministry of
Defence Airspace Change
Proposal

Boston Town Area
Committee

Page 12 Of 12 15/05/2019Development Manager - Lisa Hughes

P
age 84

https://www.mybostonuk.com/planning-application-search/?ref=B/19/0049
https://www.mybostonuk.com/planning-application-search/?ref=PRE/19/0002


REPORT TO: PLANNING COMMITTEE

DATE: 28 MAY 2019

SUBJECT: PLANNING COMMITTEE ANNUAL REPORT 2018 - 2019

PORTFOLIO HOLDER: Post not ratified at time of issue of agenda.

REPORT AUTHOR: DEMOCRATIC SERVICES

EXEMPT REPORT? NO

SUMMARY

To support the principles of the Member Development Charter, Democratic Services
produce an end of final year report for each committee within the Council.

This report details the workload and activity of the planning committee throughout the
previous year and monitors the reporting of new practices and changes to legislation
relevant to the committee’s decision making.

This report provides an insight into the activities of the planning committee, for any new
members onto the committee, following the recent election. It provides an account of the
actual committee meetings and the decision making by the members throughout the year.

RECOMMENDATIONS

1. That the committee receive the report and refer it to Full Council for approval and
publication on the Council’s website.

REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS

To ensure the committee is confident in its continuing responsibilities; to identify if
necessary any areas for enhanced training requirements and to allow members the
opportunity of monitoring the results of their decision making.

To provide an account of the committee with the opportunity to input suggestions for
improvements to the annual committee report.

ALTERNATIVES CONSIDERED
Not to consider the report

B   O   S   T   O   N
B O R O U G H  C O U N C I L

Page 85

Agenda Item 6



FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS

None

LEGAL IMPLICATIONS

None

ANY OTHER IMPLICATIONS

None

CONSULTATION

Consultation in respect of the production of this report has taken place with the Portfolio
Holder Councillor Michael Cooper (Portfolio Holder for the year 2018 – 2019) and the
Growth Manager Mrs Lisa Hughes.

APPENDICES

Appendices are listed below and attached to the back of the report: -

APPENDIX A Annual Planning Committee Report 2018 – 2019

BACKGROUND PAPERS

None

CHRONOLOGICAL HISTORY OF THIS REPORT

None

Page 86



Boston Borough Council
Planning Committee

End of Final Year Report
May 2018 – April 2019

Appendix A

Page 87



Page 88



Introduction
Boston Borough Council’s Planning Committee sits every four weeks throughout the
municipal year scheduling additional meetings as required.

Committee meetings are held on a Tuesday at 1000 hours and many are attended by
members of the public, either in a capacity to speak on a specific application, or to view
the proceedings with a general interest.

The committee consists of a cross party representation of 13 members from the political
groups within the Council. As a regulatory committee of the Council, the planning
committee has decision making powers and as such, its members have a responsibility to
make their final decisions based on planning policy and regulation alone, and not based on
political direction.

It is a pre-requisite for membership of this committee that all Councillors who sit and
determine the applications, are trained in all aspects of planning policy and legislation.

Comments on the activity of the committee over the year 2018-2019 by the Portfolio Holder
Councillor Michael Cooper:

“Not only have the planning committee members had a very wide range of diverse planning
applications to consider throughout the year, they have also taken on board significant changes in
policy and legislation to ensure their decision making has been consistently robust.

Certain planning applications can be controversial, causing upset and concern for residents, and
the committee members whilst being mindful of any emotive representation they may receive, are
neutral in their decision making in line with planning policy.

Being a non-political committee I am pleased to confirm that throughout the year, the committee
members have worked collectively, in a considered manner, in their determination of the
applications. Site visits have taken place which always prove beneficial to members and deferrals
for legal advice for further information are made when necessary. Appeals decisions have in the
majority been in favour of the Committee, underlining the original decision making of the
committee.

In conclusion I would like to thank all the supporting staff on this
committee who always enable each meeting to be structured in a
professional manner, reflecting the seriousness of the decision
making taking place.

__________________________________
Councillor Michael Cooper.
Leader of the Council and
Portfolio Holder for Development and Planning

Page 89



Page 90



PLANNING COMMITTEE
HHooww aa ppllaannnniinngg aapppplliiccaattiioonn ggeettss ttoo ccoommmmiitttteeee::

When a planning application is received there are two ways in which Boston Borough
Council’s Planning Department can action it:

1. It can be decided under Delegated Powers which are given to senior
experienced officers with sufficient knowledge of planning policy, case law and
legislation, to be able to reach a professional decision. This practice is
paramount in ensuring that the authority does determine the large number of
applications it receives within any municipal year, within the statutory time limits.

The above practice is used on applications which are fairly straightforward and
have not been subject to public interest, are not of a nature to be contentious
and do not depart from the local and national planning policies.

2. It can be deemed suitable for full committee determination.

This practice is used on applications by a Council Officer or Boston Borough
Council Elected Member; applications which have generated significant public
interest or may be contentious in nature and also applications which may be
contrary to the local plan and depart from policy.

FFuurrtthheerrmmoorree::

§ Ward Members are notified of all planning applications submitted relating
to an address within their Ward and given the opportunity to request that
an application be referred to the committee for determination.  However,
the Ward Member should give clear planning reasons for the need for the
application to be determined by the committee.  There is an expectation
within the planning code of conduct that when a member makes such a
request, they address the meeting in their role as Ward Member.

§ When an application is deemed to be particularly contentious or the impact
of the proposal is difficult to visualise from plans and photographs, officers
will seek the committee’s official agreement to convene an official
committee ‘site visit’ prior to the application being tabled for determination.

A site visit forms part of the ‘committee meeting proper’.  It is held under
full protocols and in line with the authority’s planning code of conduct, only
members who attend the visit may determine it at the committee meeting.

Page 91



PLANNING COMMITTEE
WWhhaatt hhaappppeennss aatt tthhee ppllaannnniinngg ccoommmmiitttteeee mmeeeettiinngg??

The agenda is published five clear working days before the meeting on the Council’s
website.  Hard copies are available at reception or on request.

Each report produced on a planning application, contains a recommendation for
determination by the report author, which has been achieved based on assessment
against policy and all material considerations. It is however only an officer
recommendation, which can be over-turned in line with reasons aligned to the Local Plan
or the National Planning Policy Framework.

Public representation is permitted on all planning applications and all speakers must have
registered to speak by 1200 noon on the day before the meeting.
Speakers (with the exception of ward members) are subject to timing constraints when
addressing the committee.

The Chairman will open the meeting at 1000 hours and address the preliminary items
under part 1 of the agenda including apologies for absence and declaration of interests.

Part 2 of the agenda is then introduced:

1. The reporting officer will present the planning application both visually and verbally
concluding with their recommendation for determination.

2. Verbal representation is then received in respect of the application in the following
order:

a) Public objection to the application

b) Public support of the application

c) Representation by the applicant and/or their agent

d) Parish Council representation

e) Address by the Ward Member

Once a speaker has addressed the Committee, they must return to their seat in the
public gallery.  Open discussion between committee members and members of the
public is not permitted.

3. Before inviting the committee members to deliberate and decide the application, the
Chairman will invite the reporting officer to address any planning specific issues
which may have been raised during the public representation.

If necessary, they may also seek any legal advice from the Legal Officer in order to
ensure clarity of any issue ahead of members’ deliberation.

Page 92



4. The Chairman will open the session for deliberation, to enable committee members
to determine the application.

Committee members may seek advice from officers (planning and legal) on any area
of the application in order to allow them to make an informed decision.

5. On consideration of the application and in their determination of it, committee have
the following options:

a. The application can be granted or refused, as per the officer recommendation
within the report.

b. The application can be granted or refused, contrary to the officer
recommendation within the report. On such occasions material planning
reasons must be provided for the overturn of the officer recommendation.

c. In the event that the committee feel they need to have sight of the application
location, they can defer the application ‘for an official committee site visit’.

6. As a decision making committee all motions are subject to being moved and
seconded and an official vote taken:  in the event of a tied vote the Chairman of the
committee has the right to cast a deciding vote.

7. Once all the planning applications have been determined, all other matters on the
agenda are addressed.  This can include a variety of reporting which could contain
notification of changes to planning legislation and policy; consideration of Tree
Prevention Order’s and any consultation submissions.

Each agenda then tables two standing items concluding its business of the day:

1. A rolling update on appeal decisions received.

2. A rolling update report on items determined via delegated powers.

Whilst a planning decision is made at the committee meeting, it does not come into effect
until the Decision Notice and associated documents are despatched by the Planning
Authority.

When a planning application is refused, the applicant does have the right to appeal the
decision through the Planning Inspectorate who will independently consider the application
and then make a final decision. An applicant may also appeal against any conditions that
are attached to a grant of permission.

Page 93



PLANNING COMMITTEE
Facts, Planning Applications and Reports

§ Boston Borough Council’s Planning Committee sat on 12 occasions throughout the
municipal year 2018- 2019.

§ Only one scheduled meeting was cancelled on the 30 April 2019.

§ The committee undertook one official site visit:

Planning Application B 17 0130 (resubmitted) was deferred at the meeting of the 14
July 2018, on concerns noted by many members in respect a loss of amenity and the
nature of occupation for work as against tourism.

The official site visit took place at 0900 hours on the morning of the following
committee meeting on the 21 August 2018, at the location of the application site at
Shaw Lane, Old Leake, Boston.

The application was recommended to grant by the officer, but was refused contrary to
officer recommendation, on the reason it contravened Policy G1 in that it would
substantially harm the amenity and general character of the area.

Members agreed the benefit of the site visit in assisting them in reaching their
determination of this application, validating their decision for the site visit.
It is noted that this decision is currently under appeal and being considered by the
Planning Inspectorate.

§ The committee deferred a further two planning applications at their meeting on the
29th May 2018, following the outcome of an appeal decision, which directly impacted
on the applications tabled and the officer recommendation at that point in their
deliberations:

§ Planning Application B 18 0144 Ye Olde Red Lion Bicker

§ Planning Application B 18 0045 Lacey’s Lane Leverton.

Committee agreed that legal advice be sought in respect of the appeal decision and
that the applications be returned for deliberation in line with any outcome from the
appeal decision.

Both applications were returned at the following committee meeting on the 26 June
2019 and both were granted in line with officer recommendation.

Page 94



PLANNING COMMITTEE

Planning Applications:
The Planning Committee determined 65 planning applications over the 12 meetings which
includes the three deferrals and re-submissions.

§ 45 applications were granted in line with officer recommendation

§ 7 applications were refused in line with officer recommendation

§ 3 applications were granted contrary to officer recommendation

§ 7 applications were refused contrary to officer recommendation

§ 1 application was deferred for an official site visit

§ 2 applications were deferred for additional legal advice

69%

11%

5%

11%
1%

3% Grant in line with Officer
recommendation
Refuse in line with
Officer recommendation
Grant contrary to Officer
recommendation
Refuse contrary to
Officer recommendation
Defer for site visit

Defer for legal advice

80%

15%
5%

In line with Officer
recommendation
Against Officer
recommendation
Deferrals

Page 95



PLANNING COMMITTEE:

Appeals Decisions:

Throughout the municipal year Boston Borough Council received 9 appeal decisions in
respect of decisions made by the Planning Committee.

Out of the nine 4 of the appeals were upheld by the Inspector and 4 were dismissed
supporting the decision of the committee.

The remaining appeal was withdrawn prior to being determined by the Planning Inspectorate
following a further planning application being submitted by the appellant. The original report
for the appeal had been recommended for approval by officers.

Planning Committee determined 3 of the applications that were appealed.

2 of these had been recommended for approval by Officers, the other for refusal.

The Inspectorate allowed 1 of these and upheld the other decision, dismissing the appeal.

4

4

1

Appeal Decisions

Allowed Dismissed Withdrawn

Page 96



Additional reporting

In addition to planning applications the committee also received a variety of reporting:

Planning Application Validation Check List.
Presented by the Growth Manager the committee were advised that the Council currently
validated planning applications in accordance with a national list, which required very little
information to be submitted in order to make the application valid. The result due to the lack
of information often led to delays in the processing of many applications causing frustration
to applicants and increased costs to the Council.  The proposed check list allowed
significantly more information to expedite the application and a shortened version had been
produced for householders.
Committee agreed the officer recommendation and noted the proposed check lists; agreed
that the checklists would be subject to consultation for a minimum of 6 weeks and that a
report on the consultation responses would be returned to the planning committee.
The Check Lists were adopted at the January 2019 committee meeting.

NPPF Update
Presented by the Growth Manager, committee were asked to note the updated National
Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 2018 which had been published by the Government on
the 24th July 2018 and had come into immediate effect.  The amended framework identified
a number of changes against the 2012 version and in line with the officer recommendation
committed noted and received the updated framework.

Pre-application Protocol
Presented by the Growth Manager the committee were advised that the protocol which
included a table of charges had been reviewed, following the last review in July 2017.
Changes had been made and the review satisfied the commitment to monitor the protocol.
Committee agreed the officer recommendation and resolved to recommend to Cabinet that
the Council:
§ Increase fees for pre-application advice
§ No longer providing informal responses to ‘Do I need planning permission...’ enquiries

and requiring the submission of Lawful Development Certificates
§ Provide a fee schedule of charges for larger schemes (typically over 51+ dwellings) and

for those applications where the applicant specifically requests an enhanced service.
§ Updates the Pre-application Protocol.

Heritage Strategy
Presented by the Head of Place the report advised that due to increase recognition at
national level of Boston’s significant medieval and Georgian historic environment there was
a need for a strategy to set out the aims and objectives of the Council to restore, protect and
share the heritage and also safeguard its future.
The committee resolved to recommend to Cabinet that the Council agree and endorse the
updated strategy.

Page 97



Conservation Area Plan.
The Head of Place presented the report to the committee advising that Boston Town Centre
was first designated as a Conservation Area in 1969, one of the earlier designations as the
first Conservation Area designated in the country had been Stamford in 1967.  The
importance of the plan ensured the future protection and improvement across the area.
That the committee resolved to recommend to Cabinet that the Council agree and endorse
the updated strategy.

Case Law Update
The Growth Manager presented the report confirming that Council received regular updates
on new and changes to legislation, policy and guidance as well as relevant case law.  Those
that were most applicable to the Planning Committee in the determination of planning
applications were presented for Members information.   A recent case - R. (Tate) v
Northumberland CC [2018] EWCA Civ 1519 was of particular relevance and tabled for
members reference.
Committee noted the report and agreed the benefit of receiving such reporting.

STANDING ITEMS

To enable committee members to monitor all applications actioned via the planning
department, one of the standing items at the end of each agenda is the Delegated Decision
List which identifies all the decisions made by the officers on the applications not tabled
through the committee.

A second standing item was added to the agenda during this municipal year.  A monthly
report on appeal decisions was produced and welcomed by the committee allowing them to
monitor the appeal decisions monthly as against receiving reporting updates occasionally
throughout the year.

NEW POLICY:

Boston Borough Council adopted the South East Lincolnshire Local Plan 2011 – 2016 on
the 8th March 2019 – a joint Local Plan with its neighbour South Holland District Council.

The new Joint Local Plan replaced the old existing Local Plan in determination of all planning
applications.

Full training was undertaken with all members of the Planning Committee where the new
plan was considered fully in determining planning applications.”

Page 98



PLANNING COMMITTEE MEETINGS 2018 / 2019

Attached identifies each planning committee meeting throughout the year and provides a breakdown of the voting.

It provides information in respect of the items granted / refused and also those decided contrary to officer recommendation.

Key: F        = Voted in favour of the decision

AG     = Voted against the decision

AB = Abstained from voting

U* = Unanimous Vote.

*the number of voters on a ‘unanimous vote’ may not reconcile with the number of votes on other items on that day’s agenda: committee
membership fluctuates during the meeting, dependent on members absenting, arriving late or leaving early or standing down to speak as ward
members on an application.

When the U is shown – it is correct at the number of members in session at that time of the meeting.

P
age 99



Application. & Site Location. Officer Rec. Committee Decision. F Ag Ab U

29 MAY 2018
Erection of 2 no. detached two storey residential dwellings and
garages and associated works
Ye Olde Red Lion. Bicker

Refuse Defer for legal advice in respect of
appeal decision.

7 1 2

Outline application for residential development (up to 3 no.
dwellings) including associated works with all matters reserved
Land adjacent to The Farm Laceys Lane  Leverton

Refuse Defer for legal advice in respect of
appeal decision.

7 1 3

Approval of reserved matters (scale, layout, landscaping and
appearance) following outline approval B/16/0389 (Outline
application for the erection of one detached dwelling and one
detached garage including access with matters relating to
appearance, landscaping, layout and scale reserved for later
approval)
Glenhirst Station Road Swineshead

Grant Grant as officer recommendation 11 U

Outline application for the erection of up to 35 no. dwellings (with
layout and access to be considered) and construction of car park
for use by Old Leake Primary School
Land north of Old Main Rd  Old Leake

Grant Grant as officer recommendation 12 U

Erection of two apartment blocks, one fronting John Adams Way
and the other fronting Whitehorse Lane, Boston.
Erection of one dwelling attached to the north gable of 82 High
Street, Boston
Conversion of Haven Wharf warehouse to provide 21 flats plus
side extension.
Relevant demolition in a conservation area including the
demolition of outbuilding to the rear of 78 High Street Boston, an
industrial building attached to the south elevation of Haven
Wharf Warehouse and buildings nos 1, 2 and 3
Land south of the A16, John Adams Way, east of High Street
and Whitehorse Lane  Boston

Grant Grant as officer recommendation 6 4

P
age 100



26 JUNE 2018
Erection of 2 no. detached two storey residential dwellings and
garages and associated works
Ye Olde Red Lion.  Bicker

Grant Grant as officer recommendation. 8 3

Outline application for residential development (up to 3 no.
dwellings) including associated works with all matters reserved
Land adjacent to The Farm Laceys Lane  Leverton

Grant Grant as officer recommendation. 12 U

Demolition of 36 Strait Bargate and 2 Wide Bargate and part of
the boundary wall to the Methodist Church.  Refurbishment and
extension of Grade II listed 4 Wide Bargate. Erection of 14 no.
retail units (A1); 2 no. retail units (A3/A5); and 15 no. residential
apartments, with associated car parking. Creation of a new
pedestrian (and delivery/service vehicle) link connecting Wide
Bargate to Red Lion Street
Land between Red Lion Street and Wide Bargate Boston

Grant Grant with the additional
recommendation for investigation into a
possible gating order at the entrance to
the alleyway adjacent to no. 4 Wide
Bargate.

11 1

Listed building consent for single storey extension and
refurbishment of 4 Wide Bargate.  Demolition of part of the
boundary wall to the Methodist Church and replacement with
realigned wall and railings including pedestrian gate.
4 Wide Bargate, Boston

Grant Grant as officer recommendation. 11 1

Erection of replacement residential dwelling without attaching an
existing Agricultural Habitation Clause, and change of use of
land from agricultural to domestic curtilage including
retrospective excavation of conservation lake and temporary
siting of static caravans
Mobile Farm  Manor Lane  Wrangle,

Grant Grant 13 U

Outline application for proposed residential development of up
to 200 no. dwellings with access to be considered
Land South of Wainfleet Road Boston

Grant Grant subject to additional condition in
respect of fencing delineating the 5m
buffer prior to commencement of works

9 2

14 JULY 2018
Construction of 18 dwellings (including 3 affordable dwellings)
garages, public open space, estate road and new vehicular
access following demolition of existing dwelling
Land to rear of Westminster Terrace  Swineshead

Grant Grant subject to the additional word of
‘future’ in condition 8 and the additional
word of ‘additional’ within condition 18.

7 2 1

Proposed residential development consisting of 4 no. detached
dwellings with associated parking, garages plus construction of
a new road and new vehicular access
West End Road  Wyberton

Grant Grant as officer recommendation 8 1 1

P
age 101



Installation of small-scale gas-fired electricity generating facility
within portal framed building and ancillary infrastructure, and
plant including transformer compound, DNO metering room, gas
kiosk, store room, control room, lubrication oil storage tanks, and
radiator bank
Land west of Marsh Lane Boston

Grant Grant as officer recommendation 8 2

Erection of two storey Engineering, Manufacturing and Training
(EMAT) Centre and associated landscaping works
Boston College Skirbeck Road  Boston

Grant Grant 10 U

Outline application for residential development following
demolition of the existing buildings with some matters (layout,
appearance, landscaping and scale) reserved for later approval
Bridge House Boston

Refuse Refuse 8 2

Outline application for residential development following
demolition of the existing buildings with some matters (layout,
appearance, landscaping and scale) reserved for later approval
Whitehouse Lane  Fishtoft

Grant Grant 5 2

Resubmission of B/17/0130 to remove condition 2 on planning
approval B/15/0017 to enable a maximum of 25 caravans to be
occupied by agricultural workers for a period of up to three
years with the maximum continuous length of stay of any
individual worker being limited to 10 months
Old Leake Caravan Park Shaw Lane.   Old Leake

Grant Defer for site visit to address
concerns re amenity and occupation
of the caravans in work as against
tourism circumstances

5 2

21 AUGUST 2018
Resubmission of B/17/0130 to remove condition 2 on planning
approval B/15/0017 to enable a maximum of 25 caravans to be
occupied by agricultural workers for a period of up to three
years with the maximum continuous length of stay of any
individual worker being limited to 10 months
Old Leake Caravan Park   Shaw Lane.   Old Leake

Grant REFUSED contrary to officer
recommendation as the application
contravened Policy G1 and would
substantially harm the amenity and
general character of the area.

6 5

Retrospective Listed Building Consent for retention of front
door and UPVC double glazed windows at front and rear
31 Sleaford Rd  Boston

Refuse GRANTED contrary to officer
recommendation due to PVC
windows being in place at 29 Sleaford
Road.

7 6

Outline application for the demolition of existing bungalow and
erection of up to 6 no. residential dwellings, with all matters
reserved
Old Main Road  Fosdyke

Grant Grant 12 1

P
age 102



Outline application for the erection of up to 10 residential
Dwellings with all matters reserved
Lloyds Farm  Fosdyke

Refuse Refuse 8 5

Approval of reserved matters relating to scale, layout,
Landscaping and appearance attached to outline approval
B/16/0380 for the erection of up to 193 dwellings and two flats
including access off Middlegate Road West, public open
space, play area, pumping station and swales/drainage
infrastructure and landscaped bund
Middlegate Road   Frampton

Grant Grant 9 2

Resubmission of B/17/0307 for outline permission with all
matters reserved (layout, scale, appearance, landscaping and
access) for the erection of 9 no. dwellings
Land off Milkinghall   Bicker

Grant Grant as per officer recommendation
subject to additional 4 conditions in
respect of land contamination and a
condition in respect of access.

10 U

18 SEPTEMBER 2018
Outline application with some matters reserved (layout, scale,
appearance and landscaping reserved for later approval) for the
erection of up to 96 no. dwellings, public open space,
attenuation pond, and associated infrastructure (access only to
be considered)
Wigtoft Rd   Sutterton

Grant REFUSED contrary to officer
recommendation as it contravened
policies CO1, G1 and H3.

10

Outline planning application for the construction of two houses
with all matters reserved
Land Adjacent to Exessive Homers Lane   Freiston

Grant Grant 12 U

Outline planning application to erect single dwelling house and
paddock with details of access, with all other matters relating to
appearance, landscaping, layout and scale reserved
Willington Rd   Kirton

Grant Grant 10 2

Erection of side extension to existing stables, detached timber
hay barn, access road, and retention of static caravan for non-
residential use
Seven Acres Skipmarsh Road   Old Leake

Grant Grant 11 U

Outline application with all matters (layout, scale, appearance,
access and landscaping) reserved for the demolition of
outbuildings and the construction of up to 6no. dwellings
Pode Lane   Old Leake

Grant REFUSED contrary to officer
recommendation as it contravened
policies G1, G2, H3(2) and paras 122
and 127 of the NPPF

10 1

P
age 103



Change of use from agricultural land to residential curtilage
Dovecote Farm Sutterton Drove Amber Hill

Grant Grant 10 1

Erection of cladding on an existing agricultural building to
house agricultural vehicles and to store animal feed
Dovecote Farm Sutterton Drove Amber Hill

Grant Grant 10 1

16 OCTOBER 2018
Front extension and alterations to roof at rear of garage building
and Change of Use of former dairy room/creamery and other
outbuildings along with associated land and existing paddock
area to special needs school (Class D1)
The Coach House Hall Lane Algarkirk

Grant Grant 6 4

Application for approval of reserved matters following outline
approval B/14/0165 for the construction of a drive-thru coffee
shop (mixed use comprising class A1 and class A3) plus internal
roadway, parking area changes to the operational hours
Plot B  The Quadrant  Land off A16  Wyberton

Grant Grant 10 1

Application for approval of reserved matters for the construction
of retail unit (mixed use comprising class A3 and class A5) and
drive-thru restaurant (mixed use comprising class A1 and class
A3), plus internal roadway, parking area and development
Plot A  The Quadrant Land off A16 Wyberton

Grant Grant 10 0 1

Erection of showroom for sales and display of bathroom
equipment and associated merchandise (Class A1), plus new
car park and associated development
Land south of Wallace Way   The Quadrant Wyberton

Grant Grant in line with officer
recommendation subject to an
additional condition to limit use to a
kitchen/bathroom retail outlet.

9 2

Proposed erection of 1 no. two and a half storey dwelling,
extended vehicular access and a new vehicular access
Woodville Road  Boston

Refuse Refuse 10 1

Siting of a portakabin to provide office and kitchen area for a
temporary 3 year period
Drayton Motors   The Drayton  Swineshead.

Grant Grant 10 1

Demolition of existing dwelling and erection of terrace block of 6
no. three storey houses with new access and associated works
Church Road   Boston

Grant REFUSED contrary to officer
recommendation as the application
contravened policy H2 and the NPPF

9 2

Demolition of existing dwelling and erection of terrace block of 6
no. three storey houses with new access and associated site
works
Land adjacent to Holly House Causeway Wyberton

Refuse GRANTED contrary to officer
recommendation as it satisfied NPPF
terms for economic, social and
environmental development.

5 3

P
age 104



13 NOVEMBER 2018
Outline application for residential development (up to 8
dwellings) with all matters reserved for later approval
Land west of Millview  Donington Road Kirton End

Refuse Refuse 9 3 1

Erection of 2 semi-detached and 4 detached bungalows and
detached garages and associated site works
Land to rear of 58, 60 and 62 Willington Rd   Kirton

Grant Granted subject to amendments to
conditions in respect of the amended
plan.

7 3 2

Installation of 10 wall-mounted wind turbines
Reflex Labels  Station Road Swineshead

Grant Grant 11 U

Outline application with all matters (access, landscaping,
layout,appearance and scale) reserved for later approval for
the erection of up to 26 dwellings.
Land adj. to Magnolia Lodge Benington Road Butterwick

Grant Grant 9 3

Outline planning application for residential development (up to
30 dwellings) with all other matters reserved.
Land to rear of 1 – 9 Ralph’s Lane   Frampton

Refuse Refuse 9 1 1

Change of use of an existing detached dwelling house (Class
C3) to form a hotel (Class C1). Incease the height of the
previously approved side extension (B/17/0140) by 1m.
The Firs West End Road  Wyberton

Grant Grant 12 U

11 DECEMBER 2018
Erection of 4 two storey residential dwellings and private access
road leading from The Boundary following demolition of 73 &
73A Rosebery Avenue
73, 73a and 75 Rosebery Avenue Boston

Grant REFUSED contrary to officer
recommendation as it contravened
policies G1, H2 and H3(2).

6 5

Approval of reserved matters for 178 dwellings (access,
appearance, layout, landscaping and scale) following approval
of B/16/0436  including the submission of details in relation to
Condition 8 - Public Open Space and in relation to Condition 9
Site Levels
Land east of Lindis Road   Boston

Grant Grant 12 U

Construction of 79 dwellings plus roads, public open space and
associated works (amended scheme for construction of 86
dwellings ref: B/16/0106)
Land off Puritan Way  Boston

Grant Grant 11 U

Outline application for one dwelling, with all matters reserved
for later approval
Land adj. to Fernlea Spittle Hill Freiston

Refuse GRANTED contrary was an infil plot,
appeal decision was important and
the location was sustainable.

12 U

P
age 105



Application for approval of reserved matters (access,
appearance, layout, landscaping and scale) for Phase 4 of
residential development comprising of 26 no. dwellings
approved under Outline Application B/13/0037
Land at Broadfield Lane / Grayling Way Boston

Grant Grant 12 U

Outline application for the erection of up to 35 no. dwellings
(with layout and access to be considered) and construction of
car park for use by Old Leake Primary School
Old Main Road   Old Leake

Grant Grant 12 U

Conversion of garage and pigeon loft to form annexe
accommodation including single storey rear extension following
demolition of stock loft
Church Green Rd   Fishtoft

Grant Grant 12 U

Application for approval of reserved matters (matters including
appearance, layout and scale) for the construction of hotel
(Class C1), public house/restaurant (Class A4) and drive-thru
restaurant (mixed use comprising class A1 and class A3) plus
associated car parks and internal roadway
Plots C and D Land Adj. A16  Wyberton

Grant Grant 11 1

Outline application with all matters reserved (access,
appearance, landscaping, layout and scale) for up to 9
residential dwellings
Land at Puttock Gate   Fosdyke

Refuse Refuse 11 1

Outline application with some matters reserved (scale,
appearance and landscaping) for proposed residential
development of up to 83 no. dwellings
Land to the east of White House Lane   Fishtoft

Grant Grant 8 1 1

Application for prior approval for the erection of  a cold store
Windy Ridge, Kirton Holme, Boston, Lincolnshire

Grant Grant 9

15 JANUARY 2019
Outline application with all matters (layout, scale, appearance,
access and landscaping) reserved for the construction of up to
5 dwellings
Blue Bungalow, Pode Lane, Old Leake, Boston

Grant REFUSED contrary to officer
recommendation as it contravened
policies G1, G2 and H3(2) along with
paras. 122 and 127 of the NPPF

9 3 1

Application for the approval of reserved matters (access,
appearance, landscaping, layout and scale) following outline
approval B170093, for erection of detached two storey dwelling
Land adj. to 122 West End Road  Wyberton

Grant Grant 13 U

P
age 106



End

Resubmission of B/18/0192 for the erection of single storey
building to form veterinary practice (Class D1), car park area and
associated works
Plot 6 Endeavour Park  Broadsides  Boston

Grant Grant with additional condition to
prevent change of use.

13 U

Erection of 3 no. 8m high lighting columns with 300w LED
floodlights
Peter Paine Sports Centre  Boston

Grant Grant 12 U

12 FEBRUARY 2019
Construction of 18 dwellings (including 3 affordable dwellings)
garages, public open space, estate road and new vehicular
access following demolition of existing dwelling
Land to the rear of Westminster Terrace  Swineshead

Grant Grant 9 2

Outline application for residential development (up to 4
dwellings) with all matters reserved for later approval
Land west of Millview, Donington Road, Kirton End

Refuse Refuse 6 4 1

Two storey rear extension following demolition of conservatory
and garage
38 Hessel Avenue  Boston

Grant Grant 10 1

12 MARCH 2019
Partial retrospective application for erection of steel framed
workshop/garage
7 Causeway  Wyberton

Grant REFUSED contrary to officer
recommendation due to size, height
and external appearance being
dominant causing harm to visual
amenity of the area.

8 3

9 APRIL 2019
Change of Use from dwellinghouse (Class C3) to hotel and
sandwich shop (Sui Generis) and the construction of a two
storey rear extension
The White House Marsh Lane   Boston

Grant Grant 11 U

P
age 107



T
his page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	B MINUTES
	1 PLANNING APPLICATION B 19 0089
	Report
	Appendix 1.  Appeal Decision Notice.

	2 APPEAL DECISION REPORT
	Decision Notice

	3 PERMITTED DEVELOPMENT - UPDATE REPORT.
	4 5 YEAR HOUSING LAND SUPPLY
	Appendix 1.  Assessment of 5-year housing land supply as at 31st March 2019

	5 DELEGATED DECISION LIST
	6 PLANNING COMMITTEE REPORT YEAR 2018 - 2019.

